
'^y S. Hrg. 103-S33

EFPECT ON DAIRY TRADE OF THE

SELF-HELP PROPOSAL

M.AG8/3:S.HRG.103-B33

•ffect on Dairjj Trade on the Self-H...
T-|VT/-t

BEFORE THE

COMMITTEE ON AGRICULTURE,

NUTRITION, AND FORESTRY

UNITED STATES SENATE
ONE HUNDRED THIRD CONGRESS

SECOND SESSION

ON

THE EFFECT ON DAIRY TRADE OF THE SELF-HELP PROPOSAL

MARCH 16, 1994

Printed for the use of the

Committee on Agriculture, Nutrition, and Forestry

'-'0/«- .

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

84-506 CC WASHINGTON : 1994

For sale by the U.S. Government Printing Office

Superintendent of Documents, Congressional Sales Office, Washington, DC 20402

ISBN 0-16-046234-7





^y S. Hrg. 103-833

EFFECT ON DAIRY TRADE OF THE

SELF-HELP PROPOSAL

4. AG 8/3: S. HRG, 103-833

Ffect on Dairy Trade on the Self-H. . .

y-vrp

BEFORE THE

COMMITTEE ON AGRICULTURE,

NUTRITION, AND FORESTRY

UNITED STATES SENATE
ONE HUNDRED THIRD CONGRESS

SECOND SESSION

ON

THE EFFECT ON DAIRY TRADE OF THE SELF-HELP PROPOSAL

MARCH 16, 1994

Printed for the use of the

Committee on Agriculture, Nutrition, and Forestry

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

84-506 CC WASHINGTON : 1994

For sale by the U.S. Government Printing Office

Superintendent of Documents, Congressional Sales Office, Washington, DC 20402

ISBN 0-16-046234-7



COMMITTEE ON AGRICULTURE, ^fUTRmON, AND FORESTRY

PATRICK J. LEAHY, Vermont, Chairman

DAVID H. PRYOR, Arkansas RICHARD G. LUGAR, Indiana

DAVID L. BOREN, Oklahoma ROBERT DOLE, Kansas

HOWELL HEFLIN, Alabama JESSE HELMS, North Carolina

TOM HARKIN, Iowa THAD COCHRAN, Mississippi
KENT CONRAD, North Dakota MITCH McCONNELL, Kentucky
THOMAS A. DASCHLE, South Dakota LARRY E. CRAIG, Idaho

MAX BAUCUS, Montana PAUL COVERDELL, GeoiTgia

J. ROBERT KERREY, Nebraska CHARLES E. GRASSLEY. Iowa

RUSSELL D. FEINGOLD, Wisconsin

Chakles RlEMENSCHNEIDER, Staff Director

James M. CUBIE, Chief Counsel

Christine Sarcone, Chief Clerk

Charles Conner, Staff Director for the Minority

(II)



CONTENTS
Page

Statements
Hon. Patrick J. Leahy, U.S. Senator from Vermont 1

Hon. Richard G. Lugar, U.S. Senator from Indiana 2

Hon. Russell D. Feingold, U.S. Senator from Wisconsin 4

Prepared statement 6
Hon. Charles E. Grassley, U.S. Senator from Iowa, prepared statement .... 7
Hon. Larry E. Craig, U.S. Senator from Idaho 8
Hon. James M. Jeffords, U.S. Senator from Vermont 9
Thomas Magnant, dairy farmer, St. Albans Coopeative Creamery, Inc.,

Franklin, VT; accompanied by Leon Berthiaume, general manager, St.

Albans Dairy Cooperative Creamerv, Inc., St. Albans, VT 11
Everette Herness, dairy farmer, Land O'Lakes, Whitehall, WI 14
James C. Barr, ceo, National Milk Producers Federation, Arlington, VA ... 16
James E. Tillison, executive director and ceo, Alliance of Western Milk

Producers, Sacramento, CA 26
E. Linwood Tipton, president and ceo. International Dairy Foods Associa-

tion, Washington, DC 28
Stewart Huber, president, dairy farmer. Farmers Union Milk Marketing

Cooperative, Clintonville, WI 31

APPENDIX

Prepared Statements
Thomas Magnant 41
Everette Herness 43
James C. Barr 45
James E. Tillison 47
E. Linwood Tipton 49
Stewart Huber, with attachments 51

Position Statements
National Farmers Union 51
American Farm Bureau Federation 59

Letters
To Senator Leahy from Senator James M. JefTords, with attachment 61
To Senator Leahy from Senator Jeffords, with attachment 63
To The Honorable Bob Graham, from Jack I. Kidwell, Florida Dairy
Farmers Association, Fort Lauderdale, FL 65

(III)





EFFECT ON DAIRY TRADE OF THE SELF-HELP
PROPOSAL

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 16, 1994

United States Senate,
Committee on Agriculture, Nutrition, and Forestry,

Washington, DC.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:35 a.m., in room SR-
332, Russell Senate Office Building, Hon. Patrick J. Leahy, Chair-
man of the committee, presiding.

Present or submitting a statement: Senators Leahy, Lugar,
Craig, Feingold, Grassley, and Jeffords.

STATEMENT OF HON. PATRICK J. LEAHY, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM VERMONT

The Chairman. Good morning. We have some scheduling prob-
lems, not the least of which will apparently be a series of votes be-

ginning at 10 o'clock. I will stay here to the very last minute pos-

sible, then break for them. If the second two votes are 10-minute

votes, I will just stay over there and then come back. If they are

longer, we will notify the staff and we will let you know.
Last June, as many of you know, we met in York, Pennsylvania

for the National Dairy Summit. We talked about a variety of policy

options. Secretary Espy came up and spent the whole day at the
York Summit. We had hoped that with him there and with Mem-
bers of this committee there, that the Summit would help bring to-

gether the factions within the dairy industry. Between that time
and today, I had hoped that the industry would have come together
behind one proposal. Unfortunately, the dairy debate is still polar-
ized.

I have said this so many times that I hear myself saying it in

my sleep. We are not going to have real helpful Federal dairy legis-

lation, if there are divisions within the dairy industry itself. There
is no way with the dairy industry representing as it does a tiny
fraction of the Nation's population and a very small fraction of the
Nation's agricultural community, that we are going to be able to

get legislation through if the industry itself is fractured.
Now Self-Help seems to be one of the only things that at least

we all could talk about and that is why we are having the hearing
today. The concept has been around a long time. It is a broad con-

cept. It embodies what farmers can do on their own, primarily
through their cooperatives, to improve milk prices. I would like to

look for areas of agreement that we can build on so we can move
forward.

(1)



We should remember the Self-Help ProCTam that eventually

might come out of this committee could look different than this one
where there have been some discussions to modify the Federation's

Self-Help Plan. The concepts I see being key are these: giving

dairy farmers more control over the dairy program; reducing the

cost of the Federal dairy program; finding some way for the dairy

industry to manage its marketings; and crafting a plan that im-

proves our export marketing, while meeting our obligations under
international trade agreements.
The focus of the Self-Help Plan before us today is managing U.S.

supply through exports. There is no question such new markets are

important for the dairy industry.
In recent years, the Dairy Export Incentive Program (DEIP) has

played a key role in expanding our exports of milk powder and
other bulk dairy products. The GATT agreement reached last De-
cember would force us to reduce the use of DEIP. In future years,
our use of it may be limited, if not because of trade agreements,
then because of budget concerns. We have to think of a time for

the world after DEIP and GATT.
So with that, I hope that today

we can give the dairy industry
and dairy farmers a chance to discuss this Self-Help proposal in

the context of the economic and political forces that are at work—
the budget deficit, unstable and often low milk prices, and inter-

national market developments. However, I will emphasize one
more time, and I probably will again as this hearing goes on, that

we are not going to be able to move dairy legislation that really
makes sense, in an industry that needs help, unless the industry
itself is united on it. There are different factions within the indus-

try that want different ultimate goals. I would suggest that nobody
is going to get everything they want. As long as various factions

insist on getting everything they want, nobody will get anything.
My gooa and close friend. Ranking Member of this committee.

Senator Lugar, who eagerly looks forward to these dairy hearings,
is here.

STATEMENT OF HON. RICHARD J. LUGAR, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM INDIANA

Senator Lugar. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You are absolutely
correct in characterizing my state of mind.

[Laughter.l

Senator Lugar. I appreciate as you do, Mr. Chairman, the Na-
tional Milk Producers Federation has developed a serious proposal
for revamping Federal dairy policy that deserves and will receive

this committee's full attention. I am not certain this is the appro-
priate time to legislate it overall in the dairy program. Major
changes in commodity programs are probably best considered with-

in the context of an omnibus farm bill, which the committee will

probably take up next year.
If we are faced with a crisis situation, then immediate changes

might be appropriate. The word crisis probably does not describe

the current state of the milk market. USDA recently raised its milk

price forecast for the 1993-94 season to $13.20 per hundredweight
up over $1 from the December 1993 forecast and well above last

year's $12.75. More fundamentally, a strong case can be made that



the current dairy program, enacted in the 1990 Farm Bill is work-

ing reasonably well. Milk prices received by farmers have generally
remained well above the support price since 1991, and CCC surplus
removal has stayed at relatively low levels. Budget costs have re-

mained quite low.

As for the Self-Help proposal itself, I have two concerns. First,

USDA has stated that adoption of the Self-Help Program will not
absolve United States from requirements under the new GATT ac-

cord to reduce subsidize exports. To the extent our pricing system
makes U.S. dairy products uncompetitive, the Self-Help proposal
will not necessarily solve that problem. If the Congress ultimately

adopts the GATT agreement, new commercial exports resulting
from Self-Help will likely be considered subsidized, and therefore

would have to be offset by reductions in DEIP and CCC direct sales

for the United States to comply with the GATT agreement.
Under this situation, Self-Help would likely hurt the incomes of

milk producers. They would be forced to pay assessments to fund

Self-Help, subsidize export sales, but if those sales are simply offset

elsewhere, producers would get nothing for their investment.
Mr. Chairman, I know that alternatives are being discussed to

restructure the proposal so that Self-Help exports will not be con-

sidered export subsidies. We should consider such alternatives with
an open mind, but I would caution that if they are perceived as ef-

forts to circumvent the GATT requirements, they will almost cer-

tainly be doomed to failure. Certainly the agreement is not perfect,
but our trade negotiators labored long and hard to achieve an ac-

cord that would begin to reduce trade distorting agricultural poli-
cies around the world.

My second concern is that Self-Help contains the potential for

very large marketing assessments on a small group of milk produc-
ers. Under the current law, USDA assesses all milk producers to

offset costs associated with removals in excess of 7 billion pounds
milk equivalent, total milk solids basis. Under Self-Help, these cur-

rent law assessments would be replaced by penalty assessments
when projected removals exceed 7 billion pounds and milk prices

drop close to support.
Only those producers who increase production would pay the

penalty assessments. This could potentially result in a very large
per unit assessment on a relatively small group of producers. In my
view, this approach is similar to supply management proposals
that the Congress has rejected in the past. It would discourage eco-

nomic efficiency, investment innovation among dairy producers. It

would also discourage young people from getting involved in dairy
farming. Such an approach makes little sense at a time when we
should be considering policies to help strengthen the dairy industry
for rigors of the global marketplace.

I thank you, Mr. Chairman, for allowing me to make this state-

ment.
The Chairman. Before I go to my good friend and colleague from

Vermont, Jim Jeffords, I wonder if other Members of the committee
have statements to give. Senator Feingold?



STATEMENT OF HON. RUSSELL D. FEDJGOLD, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM WISCONSIN

Senator Feingold. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. This area is obvi-

ously a httle more than a passing interest to my State. I am duty
bound to make a few comments and I appreciate very much your
holding this hearing. There is no doubt in my mind that we have
to reform the current dairy program. Each year in Wisconsin, a
State that is naturally favorable for high quality, low cost milk pro-

duction, over 1,000 farmers decide each year that it is no longer
worth their while to produce milk. Last year, as you mentioned,
Mr. Chairman, the Dairy Summit was held in York, Pennsylvania,
under your leadership, to examine the needed changes in dairy
policy; and there was sort of a mood of optimism on the surface.

However, consensus of the producers was that something had to be
done to improve the current program, in which dairy farmers are

assessed, for a program that most of them think does not do very
much for them.
One of the panelists at the Dairy Summit was a young dairy

farmer from Wisconsin. You might remember, Charlotte Pellegrini.
Charlotte and her husband were milking 80 cows last summer. Her
leadership in the dairy industry was very obvious to everyone in

York, and she was applauded and cheered as she spoke. She is one
of the dairy industry's best and brightest. Charlotte has been in-

volved in efforts to not only improve the dairy program, but has
been a member of the Wisconsin Milk Marketing Board, where she
worked toward expanding consumption of dairy products through
promotion.

Unfortunately, like so many farmers in Wisconsin, the Pellegri-
nis lost their enthusiasm for dairying, and their energy for promot-
ing change since just last year. Tney sold their milking herd in late

January, and have ventured into production of other agricultural
commodities. As they exit the dairy industry, there are no new en-
trants to take their place—this is all too common a story in Wis-
consin. Charlotte said that she and her husband realized there was
a better way of life than

dairying.
Given the current state of dairy

policy, it is kind of hard to blame them for coming to that conclu-

sion.

It is not in Washington where I constantly hear the need for re-

form. I see the need for change literally every week, when I return
to Wisconsin and talk to milk producers. Farmers in my home
State not only suffer under a program that is incapable of stabiliz-

ing prices and supplies, but also from, as you know, Mr. Chairman,
in inequitable and antiquated system of pricing milk in this coun-

try
—^known as the Federal Order System. Milk is priced lowest in

Wisconsin as though the Upper Midwest is still the only milk sur-

plus area in the country. Yet, this year the Upper Midwest ship
milk up from the Southwest in order to meet manufacturing needs.

Meanwhile, excess processing capacity continues to develop in

parts of the country far from Wisconsin.
The 1980 Farm Bill made things worse in terms of regional in-

equities and since that time, Wisconsin has lost just since 1985
over 11,000 dairy farmers. The assumptions upon which the Fed-
eral Order System was based are no longer valid. The markets
have changed. The system by which we market milk must also



change, Mr. Chairman. 'The obvious question is, Is there one quick
fix to the current poHcy?'" No. The policy requires comprehen-
sive change, addressing price stabihty, supply stability, and most

importantly, regional inequities imposed by Federal policy.

Reform of the current Federal Milk Marketing Order Program is

critical to any effort on dairy policy. So while I am looking for-

ward—very much—to learning more about the Self-Help Proposal,
as one possible component of dairy policy reform, I do have some

questions. Is the policy workable? Is it practical? Can it deliver re-

sults in the form of improved and stable prices? More fundamen-

tally, as the Chairman alluded to very well in his opening remarks,
is it supported by the producers who will be asked to foot the bill?

I do not know yet the answers to those questions. There could be

good answers.
On the other hand, I will look to Wisconsin dairy farmers for

help with the answers to some of those questions. I am a little con-

cerned that from my initial review of Self-Help, it does not address

many of the concerns so critical to Wisconsin farmers. I will state,

at the outset, that any policy that does not address the concerns
of Upper Midwest producers cannot solve the fundamental prob-
lems of the dairy industry. Many producers in Wisconsin are frus-

trated by their lack of input into how their milk check assessments
are spent in both the dairy price support program and by the Na-
tional Dairy Promotion and Research Board. They are frustrated

with voting procedures that they view as undemocratic—such
as: block voting by cooperatives, and producer referendums for the

Dairy Board. I have introduced legislation to address some of those
concerns in that context, but I want to be sure we do not repeat
those same mistakes here.

The proposal before us today would create a self-help producer
board to manage a price and supply stabilization program. I want
to be clear from my standpoint that any producer board created

by any proposal before this committee should be democratically
elected by the producers paying for the Board's activities. It is es-

sential that accountability to producers increases, rather than de-

creases in dairy policy reform.

Finally, Mr. Chairman, I do want to recognize the substantial ac-

complishment of national milk and achieving consensus among
their own membership in support of Self-Help. I know that that
consensus does not come easily. However, any dairy policy reform

proposal to come before the Congress must also have the support
of other groups representing the dairy industry. I urge those who
have formulated this proposal to work hard to achieve unity with
those beyond their immediate membership.

Finally, Mr. Chairman, two of our witnesses today are from my
home State, Mr. Herness from Land O'Lakes, and Stewart Huber
from the Farmers Union Milk Marketing Cooperative, and I cer-

tainly welcome both of them here, and thank them for their will-

ingness to testify before the committee. Thank you, Mr. Chairman,
I ask unanimous consent that my full remarks be in the record.

The Chairman. Without objection. So ordered.

[The testimony resumes on page 7.]

[The prepared statement of Senator Feingold follows:]



STATEMENT OF SENATOR RUSSELL FEINGOLD

Thank You, Mr. Chairman.

There is no doubt in my mind that we must reform the current dairy program.
In Wisconsin, a State that is naturally favorable for high-quality, low-cost milk pro-

duction, each year, over 1,000 farmers decide that it is no longer worth their while

to produce milk.
Last year, this committee held a Dairy Summit in York, Pennsylvania to examine

the changes needed in dairy policy. While on the surface the mood was optimistic,
the consensus of the producers was that something must be done to prove the cur-

rent program in which dairy farmers are assessed for a program that does nothing
for them.
One of the panelists at the Dairy

Summit was a young dairy farmer from

Wisconsin, Charlotte Pellegrini. Charlotte and her husband were milking 80 cows
last summer. Her leadership in the dairy industry shined bright in York, Pennsylva-
nia, as her colleagues applauded and cheered as she spoke. She is one of the dairy
industry's best and brightest. Charlotte has been involved in efTorts to not

only
im-

prove the dairy program, but as a member of the Wisconsin Milk Marketing Board
she worked towards expanding consumption of dairy products through promotion.

Like so many farmers in Wisconsin, the Pellegrinis lost their enthusiasm for

dairying, and their energy for promoting change. They sold their milking herd, in

late January, and have ventured into production of other agricultural commodities.
As they exit the dairy industry, there are no new entrants to take their place.

This is all too common a story in Wisconsin. Charlotte said that she and her hus-
band realized that there was a better way of life than dairying. Given the current
state of dairy policy, I don't blame them one bit.

It's not in Washington where I constantly hear of the need for reform. I see the

need for change every weekend when I return to Wisconsin and talk to milk prod-
ucers.

Farmers, in my home State, not only suffer under a program that is incapable
of stabilizing prices and supplies, but also from an inequitable, arid, antiquated sys-
tem of pricing milk in this country, known as the Federal Order System.
Milk is priced lowest in Wisconsin, as though the Upper Midwest is still the only

milk surplus area of the country. Yet, this year, the Upper Midwest shipped milk

up from the Southwest, in order to meet manufacturing needs. Meanwhile, excess

processing capacity continues to develop in parts of the country far from Wisconsin.
The 1985 Farm Bill worsened the regional inequities, and since that time, Wiscon-
sin has lost over 11,000 dairy farmers.
The assumptions upon which the Federal Order System was based are no longer

valid. The markets have changed . . . the system by which we market mUk must
also change.
"Some say, 'California will overtake Wisconsin as the largest miUc producing State

in 1994'" I recently read an newspaper article that attributed that to the high effi-

ciency of California producers. The article failed to mention California's system of

pricing miUc—which guarantees processors a greater profit than is allowed in other
States. This policy has encouraged the movement of milk manufacturing from Wis-
consin to California. Despite a provision in the 1990 Farm Bill that made this policy

illegal, it still exists today. While USDA is attempting to implement this provision,
some are

trying
to block that effort.

The article also failed to mention the feed subsidy provided to California produc-
ers. Wisconsin has a natural competitive advantage in dairy because our soils and
climate make low-cost, high-quality feed production possible. Meanwhile, the Fed-
eral Government subsidizes water in the West, much of which, is used to grow high
quality dairy feed. Not only does this subsidy cost taxpayer dollars, it provides Cali-

fornia milk producers with low cost feed—a major input to dairy production—^taking
from Wisconsin their natural advantage in dairying.

Is there a change needed in dairy policy? Yes, Absolutely.

Is there one quick fix to the current policy? No. The policy requires comprehen-
sive change addressing price stability, supply stability, and most importantly, re-

gional inequities imposed by Federal policy. Reform of the current Federal Milk
Market Order Program is critical to any effort on dairy policy.
While I'm looking forward to learning more about the Self-Help proposal as one

possible component of dairy policy reform, I have a lot of questions:

Is this policy workable?

Is it practical?

Can it deliver results in the form of improved and stable prices?



More fundamentally, is it supported by the producers who will be asked to foot

the bill?

I don't know, but I will look to Wisconsin dairy farmers for help with the answers
to some of those questions. I am concerned that from my initial review of Self-Help,
it does not address many of the concerns so critical to Wisconsin farmers. I will

state, at the outset, that any policy,
which does not address the concerns of Upper

Midwest producers, cannot solve the fundamental problems in the dairy industry.
Many producers, in Wisconsin, are frustrated by their lack of input into how their

milk check assessments are spent in the dairy price support program, and by the

National Dairy promotion and Research Board. They are frustrated with voting pro-
cedures that they view as undemocratic, such as bloc voting by cooperatives in pro-
ducer referendums for the Dairy Board. I have introduced legislation to address

some of those concerns, but I want to be sure that we don't repeat past mistakes.

The proposal before us today would create a self-help producer board to manage
a price and supply stabilization program. I want to make clear that from my stand-

point
—any prooucer board created by any proposal, before this committee, must be

democratically elected by the producers paying for the Board's activities. It is

essential, that accountability to producers increases, rather than decreases, in dairy

policy reform.
I recognize the substantial accomplishment of NMPF in achieving consensus

among their membership in support of Self-Help. I know that consensus did not

come easily. However, any dairy policy reform proposal to come before the Congress,
must also have the support of other groups representing the dairy industry. I urge
those who formulated this proposal to work hard to achieve unanimity with those

beyond their immediate membership.
Two of our witnesses today are from nw home State. They are, as follows: Mr.

Hemess from Land O'Lakes, and Stewart Huber from Farmers Union Milk Market-

ing Cooperative. I welcome you both to this hearing, and appreciate your willingness
to testify before this committee.

I also thank the Chairman for taking the time to hold this hearing so that we
can learn more about the needs for dairy policy reform.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Senator Charles E. Grassely follows:]

STATEMENT OF SENATOR CHARLES E. GRASSLEY

Mr. Chairman, I'd like to thank you for calling this hearing today. I know there
are many of us on this committee who have a desire to hear more on the Self-Help
legislation. I know there are others on this committee for which dairy comprises a

small, but essential, element to their State's economy. Iowa's dairy sector, I am
afraid, is always overshadowed by the corn and pork producers—but it is an vital

element to Iowa agriculture, nonetheless.

Hence, I appreciate the chance to hear the different view on this legislation.
Mr. Chairman, I am always encouraged when the private sector brings legislative

proposals to us in Washington. Many farm groups now recognize the benefit of being
on the offensive, and influencing the debate in a pro-active

—and not reactive-man-
ner. Moreover, the farmer in the field, the dairy farmer, or the stockman, undoubt-

edly has a keener sense of what he or she needs to succeed in farming, and whether

government policy is a hindrance or a help toward achieving that end. The right
answers, as we all know, do not float manna-like from the heavens here in Washing-
ton. Grassroots proposals have always been an integral part of the American genius.
As many here know, a consortium of Iowa farm groups from across the spectrum
have recently unveiled a comprehensive plan for the farm bill. Most find it amazing
that these disparate groups could agree on anything—and yet, after lengthy discus-

sions, they have found common ground, and are all now advocates for a bold, new
approach to agriculture policy.

In a like vein, the National Milk Producers have taken the initiative to formulate
a plan to correct what they perceive to be ills within their own industry.

Despite this, however, I understand that there is dissension among some other

dairy groups as well as the processors. I also find it hard to reconcile this legislation
with the recently completed Uruguay Round of the GATT talks. I hope that by these
talks today we leave here with a better sense of this bill's strengths and short-

comings, and that a meaningful dialogue be started by all groups impacted by Fed-
eral dairy policy.
Thank you.

The Chairman. Senator Craig.
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STATEMENT OF HON. LARRY E. CRAIG, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM IDAHO

Senator Craig. Mr. Chairman, I will be brief. Both you and my
Ranking Member have said a great deal that I agree with as it re-

lates to the importance of this issue, but let me also thank you for

holding this hearing. I have been a friend of the Self-Help concept
as it has developed, because I, like you, and many others who serve
in this body, find it increasingly difficult to get the necessary ap-

propriations to deal with some of the issues that we find in produc-
tion agriculture. I think that it is increasingly important that in-

dustries, of production agriculture, strive to stabilize and provide
for themselves, while at the same time recognizing that we will

have a policy here and that policy will in part, do a great deal to

assist production agriculture—in this instance, dairy.

However, there are important players out there now as we move
toward the farm bill next year, and the relationship with GATT
and the new markets of export that the dairy industry has found.
There has got to be a component in all of this. I recognize Self-Help
as an evolutionary thing that gets increasingly refined by all of the

players, and I think that is extremely important. As we move to-

ward this, the dairy farmers of my State, where dairy is the fastest

growing segment of agriculture today, generally are in support of

this concept and recognize the importance of the industry moving
in that direction.

What I think we can facilitate here today is in part the message
you have just sent—that there has to be unity as best can be
achieved in the broadest base of the industry itself. I think that is

extremely important. What I think this committee can also achieve
is the assistance of moving this effort forward, as we arrive at

broad based decisions on farm policy in this country that will come
in the 1995 Farm Bill. Also, I am constantly reminded, as many
of us were here this year when we watched efforts on the floor, and
we saw the successful effort with wool and mohair. We saw the
successful effort with honey, although they are minute portions of

agriculture, compared with dairy, I think those were important sig-
nals to us, and they ought to be important signals to all of produc-
tion agriculture that efforts like Self-Help need to be seriously
looked at and energized. If we can be helpful in getting us to a

point by 1995 to having the industry into a program much like this

or some approach similar to this, then we will have gone a long
way in stabilizing the industry, but I also recognize there are di-

verse points of view. I hope we can be the catalyst that brings them
together. I think that is the important role for us.

The Chairman. Thanks, Larry. A note before we start with the

regular list of witnesses. There is no Member of the Congress, Re-

publican or Democrat who has worked harder on dairy issues than
Jim Jeffords, both as a Member of the House and a Member of the

Senate. I have appreciated and benefited from his wise counsel,
and friendship in this area. We usually talk with the same people
back home on dairy matters, and find the same ones agree with
us—and the same ones disagree with us on some of these issues.

I am delighted, Jim, that you are here with us today. Please, the

floor is yours.



STATEMENT OF HON. JAMES M. JEFFORDS, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM VERMONT

Senator Jeffords. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would hkewise
state that we are just very fortunate in Vermont to have you as the

Chairman of the Agriculture Committee. Your dedication to agri-
culture is certainly second to none. I deeply appreciate the oppor-

tunity to be here with you today to share my thoughts.
I also want to thank my previous speaker here, the good Senator

from out in the great West, who I think has been a leader in the

dairy area—and I appreciate his comments. I am following on in

somewhat the same vein. Now is a very critical time in our debate
for Federal dairy programs and I hope hearings like this one will

help focus on this debate and bring about the consensus. In spite
of our best intentions, our current dairy policy is more often than
not driven by severe Federal budget constraints. Reality demands
that we move away from the budget driven programs toward devel-

oping creative solutions to problems facing our dairy farm. A policy
of price cuts, coupled with forced bankruptcy may serve to tempo-
rarily reduce milk supplies, but it is start conflict with the interest
of both the farmers and the consumers.
The time has come for the dairy industry to take more control

of the Federal dairy program. The Self-Help Proposal, in my opin-

ion, takes us in that direction by giving producers control of this

system that directly affects them. In brief, under Self-Help, a pro-
ducer based dairy stabilization board will take responsibility for

marking dairy surpluses beyond the 5-billion-pound level. As a
number of the committees understand, dairy surpluses up to the 5-

billion-pound level, provide the nutrition for school and lower in-

come programs, such as the WIC program.
So the challenge to the Dairy Board under Self-Help would be to

market dairy surpluses which exceed levels necessary to sustain

government nutrition programs. In doing this, we must look at the
new ways to develop and promote dairy products on the inter-

national market. I think this is key where tremendous opportuni-
ties exist. Effective penetration of these markets ensures stable

prices for dairy farmers in the future, and less reliance on price
supports.
Mr. Chairman, I would also like to point out several areas where

this proposal could be improved. First, the Board should be char-
tered as essentially an autonomous entity, bearing in mind that the
General Agreement in Tariff and Trade, GATT is likely to become
effective by the end of 1995. We need to create programs that will

be GATT-/e^a/. An autonomous board, if it were to exercise as an
authority to assess premiums on farmers, could also stabilize pay-
ments to farmers during fluctuations in supply and demand with-
out issuing direct subsidies under the GATT definitions.

Further, export efforts by the Board should be a continuous func-

tion, rather than a stop and go effort, based on the magnitude of
the annual surplus. It is unrealistic to assume any marketing en-

terprise can be successful jumping into and out of sophisticated
international markets.

Moreover, by having authority to explore export markets, the
Board would help expand traditional markets and create more out-
lets to the U.S. products. In doing so, additional niches for our
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value-added products, such as ice cream, cheese and yogurt could
be found. I think it is important to emphasize that we have to work
more toward looking how we can export value-added products for
the producers, than just to the traditional cheese and nonfat dry
milk. As our economy becomes more global in the nature, the dairy
industry must aggressively pursue these more accessible markets.
Mr. Chairman, it seems the dairy export incentive program may

become a permanent casualty of the politics of deficit reduction.
Our dairy industry needs a system that does not rely on political

pressures, but is rather accountable to producer concerns. A dairy
stabilization board has the opportunity to fulfill this need. Only by
taking action to empower the dairy industry, can we expect farmers
to forge a future that works in their own best interest.

I have been encouraged by the interest shown by other commod-
ity groups in the Dairy Self-Help Proposal, and I hope to continue

working with such interested parties in this bill. I am encouraged
that there is substantial support for this approach in the Senate
and I would ask permission to include in the record two letters ^

to you, Mr. Chairman, signed by a number of my Republican col-

leagues in support of this Self-Help Program.
The Chairman. Without objection. They will be included in the

record.

Senator Jeffords. I will give these to you now.
Senator Jeffords. No doubt this program can be improved. I

look forward to working with you, the Members of the committee,
and all interested parties in adopting a policy that will well
serve the industry and consumers. First of all, I believe that, or I

would say that, we do meet your goals that you outlined, and I

think they are the appropriate goals. I think it is critically impor-
tant that we direct our attention toward GATT. GATT should be

friendly to us. The future of our dairy industry improving and
bettering its owners and workers is to have these markets open to

us. If they are open to us, outside of the small production which
can come from New Zealand and Australia, we have the power and
the ability to fill those huge markets that are opening. If we do

that, then it will not be necessary for us to meet here because we
will be able to take care of all of the capacity of our farmers.

However, if we fail to do that, if we fail to allow our dairy indus-

try to look in that direction, to get itself ready for the next century,
to be able to participate in those markets, we will have lost a great
opportunity to help our farmers. So with that, Mr. Chairman, I

again deeply appreciate being here and hopefully we can proceed
towards helping the dairy industry help itself.

The Chairman. Thank you very much, and again I appreciate,
very much, your interest in this, and your own efforts in trying to

bring about the unity that, we all agree, is necessary within the in-

dustry. Your letters will be included as part of the record. I also
insert for the record, a letter from Senator Bob Graham. 2

The Chairman. I will call the first panel. I know, Jim, that you
have other things going on at the same time. You are welcome to

stay as long as you can, but I will certainly understand if you

^See Appendix, pages 63 through 65.
2 See Appendix, page 67.
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Senator Jeffords. I will stay until the first vote anyway.
The Chairman. Thomas Magnant, a dairy farmer, from St.

Albans Co-op in Franklin, Vermont, and someone known both to

Senator Jeffords and myself. He is be accompanied by Leon
Berthiaume. Mr. Berthiaume, you are going to join us here.

Everette Herness, dairy farmer from Land O'Lakes in White-

hall, Wisconsin. Senator Feingold had mentioned that he was here

and I should also point out that Senator Feingold has spent as

much, or more time, than any member of this committee on the

question of dairy. In fact, you were one of the reasons why I

thought the hearing in York went as well as it did. Jim Barr, of

course, the CEO of the National Milk Producers Federation. Jim,

you were up and able to check the snow level in Vermont a couple
of weeks ago.
Mr. Barr. It was quite deep, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. You know my good friend Harold Horrigan.
Mr. Barr. I do, indeed.
The Chairman. Harold was out just setting up his lines for sugar

season and the day he started, that evening, they had something
like 20- or 21-inches of snow. In fact, so much that I think the

schools opened V2 hour late. I am saying this for the Washington
press corps in Vermont, who refer to anything under 4-inches of

snow as a dusting. I asked him about the 21- or 22-inches of snow

they had had, and he allowed as how maybe it was more than they
needed, which was his way of putting it humanly.

I would like to point out that the first witness is a member of

the St. Albans Cooperative Creamery. You have a 60-cow herd. Is

it not in Franklin, Vermont? Tom, go ahead.

STATEMENT OF THOMAS MAGNANT, DAIRY FARMER, ST.

ALBANS COOPERATIVE CREAMERY, INC., FRANKLIN,
VERMONT; ACCOMPANIED BY LEON BERTHIAUME, GEN-
ERAL MANAGER, ST. ALBANS DAIRY COOPERATIVE CREAM-
ERY, INC., ST. ALBANS, VERMONT
Mr. Magnant. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Members of the

Senate Ag Committee. I appreciate this opportunity very much to

testify here today. As Senator Leahy said, I am a dairy farmer
from Franklin, Vermont, and I would also like to introduce at this

time. Bob Gray, who is our CEO for CNFC.
The Chairman. No stranger either to this committee, or to Sen-

ator Jeffords, and me.
Mr. Magnant. As the Senator said, I run a dairy farm in Frank-

lin, way up on the Canadian border. I must admit I probably am
more comfortable in my overalls and barn boots and in the barn
than I am here, but nonetheless bear with me. I am currently a
member of the Board of directors of the St. Albans Cooperative
Creamery. The Creamery was established in 1919, in St. Albans.

Therefore, we are 75 years old this year. In 1993, the Cooperative
marketed over 773 million pounds of milk for its 570 members. We
are quite proud of our record of these 75 years. We are also a mem-
ber of the Council for Northeast Farmer Cooperatives, along with
three other members of that Cooperative which are Agri-Mark,
Eastern, and Upstate. We represent 6,000 dairy farms throughout
the Northeast. We have recognized the importance of working
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closely together on dairy policy matters and other issues of mutual
concern.

I find the title of the hearing today, Effect on the Dairy Trade
of the Self-help Proposal, to be a very timely and appropriate topic.

The recent North American Free Trade Agreement and the comple-
tion of the GATT negotiations have substantially changed the po-
tential for expanding export markets for dairy products. It is vitally

important for the U.S. dairy industry to begin to take advantage
of global markets and become an active participant in marketing
U.S. dairy products throughout the world. The emphasis of this

hearing on the trade aspects of Self-Help clearly reflects the need
for a major shift in dairy policy toward a more proactive role for

industry in the future.

With the implementation of a direct assessment on dairy farmers
in the 1990 Farm Bill, we are now paying approximately 60 per-
cent of the cost of that program. It is clear that if we retained this

current policy of direct assessments, these assessments will in-

crease in the future, as this Federal Government requires the dairy

industry to cover all the costs of the program. We will have no

input on these decisions and less and less to say about the future

of daily policy. Therefore, we feel it is time that we as an industry
start to assume more responsibility for the future dairy program
policy. That is what the concept of Self-Help is really all about—
helping ourselves rather than relying on the whims of the Federal

budget process.
I believe that moving in this direction will not only improve our

competitive position in updating global markets, but we hope it will

also enhance our milk prices. Vermont provides a very good exam-

ple of the importance of farming to a dairy State's income. Vermont
and the Department of Agriculture data shows that milk produc-
tion in the State was almost 2.5 billion pounds in 1993. That is a

value of about 330 million to the total income of Vermont's 2,195

dairy farmers.
The impact of Vermont's dairy industry to the economic well

being of rural communities throughout the State cannot be over

stated. In addition to the dairy farms themselves, processing facili-

ties, feed and equipment supplies, and other support personnel

provide a major economic benefit to the State. Over 90 percent of

the agriculture dollars generated in Vermont are from this dairy

industry.
One of the main components of the Self-Help Program is to es-

tablish a Dairy Board that would represent producers, processors
and other dairy experts from across the country. Its main purpose
would be to act as a marketing arm for dairy products internation-

ally, as well as domestically. The hearing today is based primarily
on this question. Can Self-Help have an effect on dairy trade? I be-

lieve that it can.

Although humanitarian aid through various Federal programs is

an important component of increasing dairy exports, there are lim-

its to this approach. The U.S. dairy industry needs to actively mar-
ket and sell dairy products throughout the world. A recent study
done by the General Accounting Office illustrates this point well.

The GAO report shows that although U.S. producers are about 150

billion pounds of milk a year, we export only about 2 percent.
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Whereas, New Zealand, which has an active, and aggressive milk

marketing board, exports almost half. In this pamphlet here, we
are looking at shows that they have two offices here in the United
States—one in Florida, and one in California. Certainly, we could

do better on exports.
A Dairy Board established and funded by the U.S. dairy industry

could result in the following short and long-term benefits:

(1) Allow the U.S. dairy industry to take advantage of the provi-
sions of NAFTA by increasing exports to Mexico.

(2) Become fully prepared to expand exports in other parts of the

world, including Central and South America, the Pacific Rim, and
the Middle East.

(3) Expand both the amount and the type of dairy products ex-

ported beyond both products to include value-added products such
as yogurt and ice cream.

(4) Continue to use a dairy export incentive program, DEIP, as

an important component of market development and sales.

(5) The dairy industry to take advantage and the potential of

new markets for dairy products in Canada as a result of the final

GATT negotiations.

(6) Ensure the Dairy Board is fully operational on all annual
basis in order to develop markets and expertise. Locate potential
markets and makes sales of U.S. dairy products.

There is no question that the Dairy Board could have a positive
and lasting affect on future dairy trade.

In summary, St. Albans Co-op, along with the Council of North-
east Farmers, believe that a properly designed Self-Help program
can be a very important tool for the dairy industry. Its benefits

would include the following:

(1) The enhancement of milk prices for dairy farmers throughout
all regions of the country.

(2) The long-term stability of the price of dairy products and
avoid the roller-coaster effect of price fluctuations in the past.

(3) Allow the U.S. to expand markets for both bulk and value-
added dairy products through the world.

I appreciate having the chance to testify and if there are any
questions, I will try to answer them.
The Chairman. Thank you very much. I will have some ques-

tions. I am gaging the time. Senator Feingold, shall we hear
Mr. Herness before we go to the vote?
Senator Feingold. I would prefer to wait.
The Chairman. We are right on the cusp and I think that prob-

ably would be a good idea. How long a statement did you have,
Mr. Herness?
Mr. Herness. It is only five pages here, but it is doubled spaced.

I think 3 or 4 minutes.
The Chairman. I am not trying to cut your time down. I think

we would probably be safe if we recess and come back after the
vote. I do not want to cloud your statement. Thank you.

[Recess.]

84-506 0-94-2



14

The Chairman. We have finished our series of votes and I apolo-

gize for the delay. For many of you who have testified before, you
understand how these things happen and we do not know wnen
they are coming. I should note one thing, one of the reasons why
this hearing and the one that Senator Feingold and I had in York,
Pennsylvania, is so important is that we know that there are going
to be cuts in the budget.

I have already proposed and started significant cuts in the De-
partment of Agriculture budget, through reorganization, to reduce
the Federal deficit. We passed the Reorganization bill just a few

days ago that cuts billions of dollars out of the Department of

Agriculture. Every single commodity is going to see cuts, includ-

ing dairy. We are all in this together, whether dairy farmers, Mem-
bers of Congress or the administration or anybody else. We are

going to have to bring the Federal deficit down. So in doing that,
what I also want to do is have a program that really works for

dairy farmers. However, it is going to require the unity among
those in the industry, because we are all seeking the same thing.
We want dairy farmers to be able to get a decent return for the

extremely hard work they do, but also to try to bring our own
budget picture in this country in order.

I know I am preaching to the converted, Mr. Herness and Mr.
Barr and my two friends from Vermont, but I just thought I would
mention that. Go ahead, please, and I thank Senator Feingold
again for urging that you be here for this testimony.

STATEMENT OF EVERETTE HERNESS, DAIRY FARMER,
LAND O'LAKES, WHITEHALL, WISCONSIN

Mr. Herness. Thank you. Thank you very much. Just a little

note, as a dairy farmer myself, I feel very fortunate because I got
to board meetings and we have discussions and whatever, but at

home I am in charge of that dairy herd. If there is a cow I really
do not like, I can sell her. Yet, you cannot do it in your business.
I have a real answer,

[Laughter.]
The Chairman. Let me tell you—I like the Senator you sent from

Wisconsin who is on this committee, therefore, I would sell a lot

of my other colleagues before I would sell him, right?

[Laughter.]
Mr. Herness. Thank you. As I said, I am a dairv farmer from

Whitehall, Wisconsin. I milk 60 cows, so I am und.er those cows

everyday that I am home and I still get the wet tail in my face

from time to time to kind of help keep things in perspective. My
son, Todd, is gradually phasing into the business, so I am very in-

terested in the future of our industry. My dairy cooperative is Land
O'Lakes. I serve as the first vice president of the Land O'Lakes
Board of Directors. In that capacity, I represent 4,200 dairy farm-
ers in the Upper Midwest. I also represent Land O'Lakes on the
Board of the National Milk Producers Federation.

I am here to express my personal support and Land O'Lakes'

support for the Dairy Self-Help Program. In September of 1991, the
Land O'Lakes Board took a hard look at the U.S. dairy situation.

We decided that price volatility was the most disruptive factor af-
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fecting dairy markets today. Since then, Land O'Lakes has worked
within National Milk Producers Federation to help develop a dairy
self-help program that would provide the dairy industry with the
tools it needs to deal with volatility. We are very enthusiastic about
the potential for Self-Help and we see three major benefits for

dairy farmers and the dairy industry.
Number one—Stability. The Self-Help Stabilization Board should

have the authority to intervene in the marketplace and buy dairy
products at times when growing inventories threaten to de-stabilize

prices. By removing excess inventories from the market, the Sta-
bilization Board will promote moderate and tolerable price adjust-
ments. We expect that the Board's action will reduce or eliminate
the roller coaster price drops that have plagued our industry for

the past 5 years. This will benefit dairy farmers and cooperatives.
It will also benefit farm lenders in our rural economy which suffers

from the sharp swings in dairy income.
Number two—Market development. The Stabilization Board

needs to have broad authority to export dairy products that it re-

moves from the domestic market. We expect that the Self-Help Pro-

gram will coordinate its export to the USDA and the dairy export
incentive program. While DEIP operates to offset unfair competi-
tion in targeted nations, Self-Help exports will focus on opening
new markets for U.S. dairy products.
Number three—Price enhancement. Dairy product exports are a

proven way to strengthen milk prices for the American dairy far-

mer. In 1992, DEIP exports increased milk prices by 50 cents to

a dollar per hundredweight. We expect that for every 7 cents spent
by the Self-Help Stabilization Board on exporting dairy products,
U.S. milk producers will realize 60 cents in higher milk prices.
With that explanation of why I support Self-Help, I will use the

rest of my time to focus on the effect of Self-Help on dairy product
exports which is the main topic of this hearing. American dairy
farmers need Self-Help in order to respond to changes in the mar-
ketplace for our milk and our products made from it. For more
than 50 years, U.S. dairy policies struggle to balance domestic sup-
ply and demand. However, the policy is no longer relevant to the
future of our industry.

Through increased productivity, U.S. dairy farmers have the ca-

pacity to produce more milk than our domestic consumers need or
want. Through improved technology and transportation, our milk

processing industry can serve markets that extend far beyond the
small regional markets that our national dairy policy is designed
to regulate. Landmark trade agreements like GATT and NAFTA
have thrown our industry into a world marketplace. Current dairy
policy is inadequate to respond to these developments. The Self-

Help Program was designed specifically for them.
Under the terms of GATT, the United States must permit ac-

cess to our domestic market for 31,000 metric tons of imported
cheese. In a market where even the slightest increase in cheese

supplies can send the price into a free fall, this increase in imports
poses a very serious threat. Our only rational response is to be pre-
pared to meet the competition in a world market. GATT will reduce
the subsidies that many of our competitors now use to artificially
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depress world prices. In addition, our trade partners must provide
increase access to their markets.
The Self-Help Program provides U.S. dairy farmers with the

means to break into these new markets, develop new customers,
and remove excess cheese supplies from our domestic markets. I

believe that the Self-Help Program is oriented toward providing a
market for producers who will be the future of our dairy industry.

I serve as chairman of the Younger Cooperative Advisory
Committee of National Milk. This is a corps of dairy farmers who
will benefit from the success of Self-Help. I am pleased that they
have worked hard to gather the signatures on the petitions asking
for action on the Self-Help Plan.
Land O'Lakes is firmly committed to building a broad base of

support for the Self-Help within the dairy industry. We urge the

Ag Committee to move ahead with marking up a bill to make Self-

Help a reality for our milk producers and our industry. Thank you
for your attention this morning.
Tne Chairman. Thank you very much. Thank you for taking the

time to come here. You, like our first witness, do not speak as a
theoretical farmer. In fact, you both have the same-size herd, 60-
head and I appreciate that. We need that kind of firsthand knowl-

edge.
I also have Jim Barr here. Now Jim has followed

dairy legisla-
tion probably as closely as anybody in Washington over the years.
We are delighted to have you here. Please, go ahead.

STATEMENT OF JAMES C. BARR, CEO, NATIONAL MILK
PRODUCERS FEDERATION, ARLINGTON, VIRGINLV

Mr. Barr. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I am Jim Barr,
Chief Executive Officer of the National Milk Producers Federation,
and we deeply appreciate your holding this hearing. We appreciate
your opening remarks. We appreciate Senator Feingold's opening
remarks and pledge ourselves to work with each of you in the com-
mittee to try to get this thing done. We are also very proud to be
here with these two distinguished producers who I think stated the
case for Self-Help very well.

As you know, the program is intended to stabilize domestic milk
markets and improve U.S. dairy producer income, while at the
same time saving millions of dollars in taxpayer money. It is a pro-

gram that recognizes today's realities, exercises responsibility by
the industry for the industry, and offers the potential of dramati-

cally increasing our Nation's level of exports. It does it without ex-

penditure of Federal dollars.

We are here today really to discuss the impact of the program
on trade. Much depends upon which scenario ultimately occurs,
and from our perspective there are perhaps four that might be pos-
sible. We know that we will be living in an era of increasingly free

trade influenced by GATT, by NAFTA and by the U.S.-Canada
Free Trade Agreement. Still, there will be some parameters that
will affect both exports and imports—specific parameters that will

apply individually to each trading partnership.
The best scenario, in our view,—given these realities, would be

that the United States Government would fully fund, and provide
for, an effective and functional, dairy export incentive program.
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The Federal Grovernment would thus continue to purchase product

through the CCC and export through the DEIP. Above and beyond
that, our Self-Help Program would provide for additional exports,

particularly of products not covered by the DEIP and to additional

countries around the world that could well be viable, potential mar-
kets. It is no secret that the Federation has been pushing hard to

expand markets for dairy products from Russia to the Pacific Rim.
Our goal is to take advantage of any and every export opportunity
to help keep milk prices at or near last year's levels, and to build

for the future.

On the other hand, another scenario would see a world with
GATT in place, DEIP in place and fully funded and functional, but

Self-Help held in the wings. The structure would be there, but its

function would be promotional only. It would be in place in case
DEIP is not funded and then once that occurred, Self-Help would
kick in. That, of course, leads us to a third possible scenario—no

DEIP, no DEIP funding. Our Self-Help Program could then take
over and be responsible for all dairy exports within the GATT,
NAFTA and the U.S.-Canada environments.
The final scenario, which quick frankly we shutter to think

about, would see neither program in place. No DEIP for the sup-

port it currently provides and no self-help program to take up the
slack and provide a means for the industry to help itself cope with
the surpluses that we have in this country, and will continue to

have, and to take advantage of those many opportunities that exist

beyond our borders.
Mr. Chairman and Senator Feingold, we must face the fact that

every year, we have domestic production that will not clear the

market, and with the population that is barely growing, and with

changing consumer habits, consumption is just not keeping up.

Frankly, our industry's objective is to sell all the milk we produce.
On the other hand, that objective is getting more difficult because
of stagnate domestic markets and the expected increase in dairy
product imports. If we do not have the means to expand U.S. dairy
exports to the maximum extent possible, what will happen to milk

prices, dairy products and dairy farmers in the United States?
The U.S. dairy industry can be competitive in certain world mar-

kets for certain products. By eliminating tariffs and getting rid

of other barriers under NAFTA, we will sell a lot more milk in Mex-
ico, for example. In addition, Japan, Korea, the European Union,
and eventually Canada will offer some new markets for the U.S.

dairy industry as a result of the GATT agreement. We cannot do
the job properly without a uniform industry-wide program in place
that would have the sanction and support of our Government.
We know that DEIP has been a major force in keeping domestic

prices strong over the past few years. It is a program that has been

extremely successful and we continue to support it. We appreciate
the fact that it has been funded this year, but does the recent but

very late announcement of DEIP allocations signal the administra-
tion's reluctance to fund the DEIP program in future years? Lit-

erally hundreds of millions of dollars of U.S. dairy farmer income

currently ride on the answer to that question.
We also know and recognize another reality. The Federal Grov-

ernment is broke and the heat is on to cut the budget wherever
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possible. We know that DEIP is on the chopping block, along wdth

the market promotion program, the generic promotion program.
That is why Self-Help is so important. It can take up the slack. It

can do it with industry money, and in return, the industry will be

able to control its own future.

As I said earlier, it is the right thing to do and the right time

to do it. That is especially true, given the environment that we are

in today. Next year, we will debate a new farm bill. We believe it

is crucial to get Self-Help enacted, before it gets caught up in the

tangled web of controversy over that comprehensive, and complex

legislation. Further, Self-Help will enhance dairy farmer income
and at the same time save the Government money. If we wait an-

other year, that will be a year's worth of potential income increases

that will be lost and a year's worth of potential tax dollar savings
that will have disappeared, and precious time will be lost in com-

peting equitably in the world markets, while our competitors will

be moving ahead.
With that, Mr. Chairman, again I thank you for the opportunity

to appear here, and will be happy to respond to questions.
The Chairman. Thank you very much. I appreciate your being

here. I must say, Mr. Magnant, you and Mr. Berthiaume and the

members of St. Albans Co-op run an extremely successful coopera-
tive. People here may not be familiar with the name St. Albans Co-

op, but if it was not for the St. Albans Co-op, we would have no

Cherry Garcia ice cream, no peace pops or anything else, because

St. Albans Co-op supplies all the milk for Ben & Jerry's ice cream

factory, if I am correct?

Mr. Magnant. That is correct.

The Chairman. So I get a lot of guidance from them and Howard
Horrigan, Claude Borbeau and the others there. I also know you
have a strong interest in developing new markets. This is obviously
the case where you worked out with them wavs to not only sell

your milk, but into the way I love seeing it being done, into a

value-added market where not only did you have the employment
of those members of your Co-op, but the employees of other busi-

nesses. How do you feel farmers in the Northeast are going to ben-

efit from Self-Help?
Mr. Magnant. I feel that—^first of all, we do not expect it. It is

going to be a big price increase in our blend price right away. We
hope that by clearing some of the excess production off into the for-

eign markets that it will kind of smooth out our domestic market,
and keep the price somewhat level with it looking—^hoping for

maybe 50 cents on the blend price. Yet, I think the major thing is

to establish a dairy board that will give us some input as to how
the dairy program is run and have somewhat of a handle on the

assessments that are charged to us.

The Chairman. You could get help to even out these roller

coaster up and down prices that most farmers tell me that is the

thing that is about the most crippling, just trying to make any kind

of planning and have the prices vary so.

Mr. Magnant. Right.
The Chairman. Leon, did you want to add something?
Mr. Berthiaume. The thing I think Tom has touched upon there

is no question issue assessed which is always a concern of dairy



19

farmers. I think the more input that they can have within the in-

dustry, I think certainly would be more well received by dairy
farmers if they are going to have to pay an assessment. More im-

portantly, I think, for us one of the reasons we have been success-

ful has really a lot to do with our customer relationship. We can

grow and grow only really along with our customers and part of

their success has really been the ability to go beyond really the
New England markets. We are now in the process of really working
with customers that are expanding into that global marketplace.
They are really looking for us for assistance and I really believe

that this Self-Help Program, with its marketing board, we can use
that as a means to assist our customers. The more successful they
are, the more successful the cooperative and its members can be.

That certainly has been where our profit has been attributable to

is really the value-added products that our milk has been used for.

The Chairman. Let me talk then with Mr. Hemess. Land
O'Lakes has a tremendous reputation in developing markets and
marketing its own product. Do you see developing new markets as
a major part of the dairy industry in the future—I mean of a viable

dairy industry?
Mr. Herness. I definitely do. I think we have to develop new

markets. Not only that, we have to make sure we are supplying the
markets with the products they want. You know, if they want that
little different flavor or whatever. That is to say—if we want to go
into the European market, their pallet is a little different than
ours, we better have a product that they want. So I think it is very
important.
The Chairman. I am glad to hear you say that last part, because

I have been on this committee now, for 20 years, and I started
out sitting v/here you are. I used to watch the Chairman and the
Senior Majority Member smoke cigars. I actually watched the cigar
smoke to hear their voices, as they spoke. They did not hear my
voice because, you thought back then, to just hush-up. I would talk
with the dairy industry and find so many resistant to changing the

products, or changing the way they market it, because—"My God,
we have done it this way before, and we will keep on doing it!"—
but there is nobody that markets anything that can do it that way.
You cannot market a cereal product, candy, soda, a car—or any-
thing—vacation planning, anything that gets marketed, clothes,
whatever. They have to change.

I arn glad to hear you say that, because I also think that if we
are going to go into these export markets, we have to realize that
which might sell here, may not there; and vice versa and reflect it.

Mr. Barr, we have a number of basic principles in Self-Help that
we all agree on—finding new markets, and increasing demand. We
are going to give farmers more control of the dairy program, hence,
we will save money. If we do not do all of these things, we really
do not have a program that sells. I must admit that when I became
Chairman of this committee, I thought back to the days when we
used to talk about how it was all parity prices, and how we kept
raising parity. I think if I had been told that we would hold a hear-

ing where we would be talking about how to save money in the

dairy industry, I would say: "Well, that is as far-fetched as the
idea that we might ever have a Democrat in the White House
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again." On the other hand, we have both, and we also have a situa-

tion of both the Republicans and Democrats on this committee,

agreeing on the fact that we have got to do both.

Jim, you know that there are some in the industry who have
been very critical of the Self-Help Plan. Are you going to be able

to continue to work with these groups? Is there a willingness for

these groups to work together to bring the kind of consensus, that

I think, everyone of us in this room knows is necessary to get some-

thing passed?
Mr. Barr. Well, Mr. Chairman, as you know, we have been work-

ing with various segments of the industry for some time now. The
first thing we had to do was to build consensus within National
Milk that you and Senator Feingold referred to earlier. That was
the first thing to do and it took us probably a couple of years to

get all of that done. Once that was accomplished, then we began
to reach out to other groups. I can say to you and Senator Feingold,
that we are certainly willing—and we have done so—to sit down
with any organization and discuss any changes, that we can dis-

cuss, if it will bring their support to the proposal. What I have to

obviously be very careful of is that I do not lose support from alli-

ances.
The Chairman. I understand that process. It is a tightrope and

juggling act altogether. I understand.
One of the other hats I wear, as a Member of the Senate, is serv-

ing as a Member of the Steering Committee, which helps select

Members that serve on various committees. One of the things, that

pleased me the most, was when I saw Senator Feingold's request
come to this committee. I assured him right from day one, that I

would support him in that regard. I think it is absolutely important
that he's here, that we have his strong voice from the Midwest—
and I might say—I do not want to embarrass him—but I must

say—I have not found any Senator willing to work harder than he

has, in the committee. So, Russ, I will turn the floor over to you.
Senator Feingold. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the

help in getting on the committee. You did not tell me just how dif-

ficult reaching unanimity would be in this area, but I had a little

clue. However, I am very pleased to be working on this issue, and
in particular, to see the early efforts on trying to get the whole

dairy industry sort of ahead of the curve of all the activity that

will, obviously, occur next year. So I think this is helpful for us,

regardless.
I have fairly specific questions and I hope they are taken to

mean what they do mean; and that is—we are looking at this real

seriously. I, and my staff, have taken some time to get into some
of the specifics of it. I have some questions for you along those

lines. Before I do that though, I do want to ask my friend and con-

stituent, Mr. Harness, a more general question.
I recall, very well, that not only are you from Whitehall, Wiscon-

sin, but that it just happened in our State legislature that of all

the different places in the State, all the different representatives
in the Assembly and the State Senate; that it was not only western

Wisconsin, not only Trempealeau County, but Whitehall that was

your residence. How many people live in Whitehall?
Mr. Herness. Two-thousand.
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Senator Feingold. Of all the counties in the State, and all the

communities, both the Senate and the Assembly Chair of Agri-
culture were from Whitehall. So, I imagine, these three people saw
each other at the coffee shop now and then.

Mr. Herness. As a matter of fact. Rod Moon was literally a

classmate of mine in high school. So I know him real well.

Senator Feengold. I figured you might know him. So it is good
to see you here. I just wanted to ask you more general questions.
So far, how do you think dairy farmers in Wisconsin feel about this

proposal—and sort of almost a preliminary question,—do they
know and understand the proposal yet?
Mr. Herness. I think that is the key. I have just attended some

more local dairy unit meetings and most of the dairy farmers donot

understand it. We need to do a better job of educating. You explain
what we are trying to do, and you have support. That is my assess-

ment.
Senator Feingold. For the principles and what the goals are?

Mr. Herness. Yes. You and I have both heard: "Let us get the

Government out of it completely." Well, I would not go quite that

far. Still, this Self-Help is a good step.
Senator FEiNGOLD.They are ready for some serious change?
Mr. Herness. I think so. I really do. Assessments—^you and I

both know—that is a bad word in Wisconsin.
Senator Feingold. Try not to mention it too often—thank you.

These questions are more directed to Mr. Barr, but if anybody else

wants to respond
You talk in your testimony about the Self-Help Board and a very

important goal of helping with exports, expanding the type of ex-

ports, even beyond what the DEIP program has done, and also to

countries beyond that are eligible for DEIP. As I said, that is an

important goal. Yet, I know that the dairy industry has been a lit-

tle frustrated on occasion in their efforts to expand the list of DEIP
eligible countries. Apparently, the Philippines and other Pacific

Rim countries that have potentially lucrative markets. DEIP allo-

cations are reviewed by the trade policy review group which, as you
know, is an interagency team of representatives of the Department
of State, USTR, 0MB, and others. Occasionally, a recommendation
for DEIP allocation is not approved by TPRG, because they may
conflict with other policy and formulation goals. Under this plan,
how would the Self-Help Board be able to sort of circumvent—get
around the constraints that the DEIP program has faced—in terms
of expanding with other countries?
Mr. Barr. If I may. Senator, I would like to—and it is next in

question—I would like to try to answer it in two ways. The first

thing is that I would hope we could construct the legislation in

such a way as that the Board would have more autonomy than
the current DEIP structure has because of the interagency require-
ment that is there. Absent that, which I think is a real possibil-

ity, because we are not naive enough to think that we are going
to set up a plan that is going to operate outside the framework of

existing treaties, and et cetera. I think we would sense that the pro-

gram is clearly being funded totally by dairy farmers. I think we
would have perhaps a stronger argument, if you will, to pursue a
case on opening the Philippines. Prior to 1960, one of our member
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cooperatives had operations in the Philippines. They had to get out
because they could not compete with the subsidized exports coming
in from the European community. It literally drove them out of the

country.
Senator Feingold. Still, under the proposal, the stabilization

plan is subject to the approval of the Secretary of Agriculture?
Mr. Barr. That is correct. Sir.

Senator Feingold. Then that is the area where over time—I

think we need to talk about whether the Secretary's approval or

nonapproval is going to be affected by what the other entities,

USTR, and others have to say.
Mr. Bark. That is correct.

Senator Feingold. I think that is one area I would want to iden-

tify for ongoing discussion.

Mr. Bark. We have already changed the proposal to strip out a
lot of that language that would require joint responsibility between
the Department of Agriculture and the Board. We structured it

that way originally in the belief that we would bring more support
from the Department. That has not happened yet, so let us try it

another way and see if that works.
Senator Feingold. Let me move on to a topic that a number of

the Members mentioned in their opening statements, the whole
GATT issue, and the importance of whether or not this is going to

have any problems in terms of being GATT-Ze^aZ. National Milk
seems to have concluded that this type of program, whether it is

funded from the national revenue, pool option or through direct as-

sessments, would be consistent with their trade obligations. What
led you to the conclusion that this would not have a GATT prob-
lem?
Mr. Barr. I am not sure we are totally confident that it does not

have a GATT problem. I think—as I mentioned in my testimony—
I offered four scenarios. One would be that it would work with and
complement the DEIP, which would clearly exceed the subsidy re-

duction, phased down in Blair II; Blair House II; and in the final

agreement. If I were advising the Secretary of Agriculture, which
I am not, I would advise him on the respect that many countries
use similar type of marketing boards and funding procedures; and
let us try it, and if we get challenged under a GATT round, then
let us take it to the GATT court, and see how it is ruled.

There are two distinct, export, subsidy definitions in the GATT.
One under Article 9 and one under Article 10. Article 10 is, what
they call, the circumvention provision. That would be the area you
would have to be in, if you would hope to argue that your method
of funding is consistent, and should fall outside the export subsidy
definitions, and are changing. Our funding—we think, at least—we
would move from Article 9 to Article 10.

Senator Feingold. Would we try to make the argument that it

is similar to the New Zealand Area Board Program?
Mr. Barr.Canadian Wheat Board and a number of other boards

that are operating. In our conversations with our trading partners
during the final GATT round in Geneva, they told us that Canada,
for example, will move in that direction to try to be able to export

dairy products into the United States because, as you know, their

retail prices are much higher than ours. What they want to do is



23

create an export class of milk just as we are talking about and try
to ship that milk South.

Senator Feingold. The fact that New Zealand does not subsidize

their program, makes it more difficult for us to make that argu-
ment?
Mr. Barr. I think the fact that New Zealand—I would not dis-

agree they do not subsidize—is not as direct as ours, but you know
you put a microscope on it, and certainly there is government in-

volvement there. I think the thing that they have, that we will not

have in our program, is all of the milk production in New Zealand
is done by cooperatives. What they did a number of years ago is

form a cooperative to handle all of their export milk, and of course,
that is 85 percent of what they produce. So, it is a total monopoly.
If you are going to export a product out of New Zealand, you are

going to export it in that manner. I would suggest that might be

a little ambitious to try to achieve here in the United States.

Senator Feingold. So, you are saying de facto in New Zealand,
it is through the monopoly, just as the same as we would try to

do, that it should not be treated differentially?
Mr. Barr. That is right.
Senator FEINGOLD. Let me turn to supply management. In your

testimony you discussed the stage for assessment which is a form
of supply management which triggers in when the surpluses are

very high and prices are quite low. Trigger comes in when we are

above the 7 billion pounds and milk prices are within the 50 cents

of the minimum support level. How did National Milk go about

choosing these trigger points? Why not 6 billion pounds, 9 billion

pounds, 80 cents above support, 10 cents above? What was the ra-

tionale?

Mr. Barr. First of all, there was a lot of negotiation in that proc-
ess. As you might expect
Senator Feingold. It did not take 5 minutes?
Mr. Barr. It did not. Sir, no. That was probably the last provi-

sion of our plan that was ratified by our Board. With that said, we
chose the product levels because historically we can show that if

you can keep CCC removals at or below 5 billion pounds, you get
a tremendous amount of market response when you do that. Prices

to producers go up. There are those who would argue that if you
go below that, then you are really going to short the market and
create problems. I am sure, Mr. Tipton will testify to that later on
this morning. So that is the reason that we chose the low end of

the figure. The high end of the figure was already in the law and
we just left it where it is. Plus the fact, we think that this Board

functioning with DEIP can handle about 2 billion pounds of prod-
uct. Beyond that, we are not sure that the international market
would accommodate that.

Senator Feingold. So that is why you chose the 5 to 7 level?

Mr. Barr. That is exactly right. Sir. That is the reason. I think

that answers your question.
Senator Feingold. How does National Milk respond to concerns

that the plan tends to react to surpluses rather than sort of pro-

actively preventing them? That is something we have heard a little

bit.



24

Mr. Barr. I think I would probably disagree with that premise
in the sense that the bill is structured in such a way that the
Board in conjunction, as it is now with the Secretary of Agri-
culture, would look at next year's production and project what CCC
removals are going to be, just as the law currently requires them
to do. If the projection is going to be above the 5-billion-pound
level, then the Board would begin its market intervention activities

at that point in time to prevent the surplus from occurring; but you
can only do that so much. If the pressure of excess production in-

creases to a certain amount, then you have to react to it, and that
is when the penalty assessment comes in and so forth.

Senator Feingold. Over the 7 billion?

Mr. Bark. That is right, Sir.

Senator Feingold. A question on duplication, if I may, Mr.
Chair-man.
The Chairman. Of course.

Senator Feingold. I have noticed that in some of the pro-
motional materials that National Milk has distributed to promote
the Self-Help Program, the point is made that export development
will be one of the jobs of the Dairy Stabilization Board. Is that not
a task that should be funded out of the existing promotion checkoff

through the National Dairy Board?
Mr. Barr. To some degree it is. Right now the National Dairv

Board has a small amount of MPP funds. I think it is about $2 mil-
lion. They have developed their own foreign export development
program, and some of the checkoff dollars are going into that. I do
not know how much. It is our thought that whatever we would do
in this area, we would clearly coordinate, and work with the exist-

ing program, and the National Dairy Board; we could decide inter-

nally between them and ourselves, or between them and the Dairy
Board; as to whether one should take over the entire function. If

we felt that the funds could be better spent there, then the Board
could just be a transfer between the Stabilization Board, and turn
those promotion dollars over to the National Dairy Board.
Senator Feingold. I think that is real important. The Chairman

alluded to the consolidation efforts that we have to make. The last

thing we want to do here is—it is even worse than taxes—is taking
assessments and duplicating those. So I appreciate your comment,
and we will be wanting to talk about that over time.

The last couple of questions I have have to do with the selection

of the Board. Obviously it is critical to the success of any self-help

plan. How are the Board members going to be selected?

Mr. Barr. There are 18 members. They would be elected by dairy
farmers. Twelve of them would be dairy farmers, the other six

could be from the processors side of the industry. They would be
elected by dairy farmers, and as you well know, the cooperatives
would have the opportunity to a representative vote in that process
if they chose to do so.

Senator Feingold. To bloc vote?
Mr. Barr. Yes, Sir.

Senator Feingold. Just to conclude my questions—I urge you to

think about that one. It is not popular. I hold a town meeting, a

listening session in everyone of my 72 counties every year, and we
do not set the topics. So it is not necessarily the case that dairy
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farmers come. However, people show up and any topic in the world

they want to bring up. A lot of them say, we do not like bloc voting.

So one of the last things I would want to do is to force it on them
in another context. So I hope you will consider that strongly as we

go through the process. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. On the bloc voting, if I might, Mr. Barr, because

we have had some farmers—I know in my own State—have ex-

pressed concern about bloc voting by cooperatives in electing the

Board. I understand you have undergone some revisions. Where is

bloc voting by cooperatives now in this plan?
Mr. Barr. We discussed that as recently as Monday of this week,

Sir, with the entire executive committee. As of now, it has been—
at least the feeling of our executive committee, and we have dis-

cussed this at great length—what has been presented to us at this

point in time, and I discussed this with Chairman Volkmer last

week too, is that in changing our provision on the representative

voting feature, we do not really bring any support to the proposal.

We are dealing very much—at least from within the industry, let

me say that—we are dealing with a moving target there that if we
can satisfy on this issue, then we start moving to the next issue

and we start moving to the next issue.

So what I would like to say to those opponents of that provision
of the bill, as far as National Milk support for that provision—if

they are really seriously interested in getting on board, and sup-

porting the legislation, then we would seriously look at that provi-

sion.

The Chairman. I understand. Just so that they understand how
I feel, I have some very serious concerns about bloc voting, not that

I am a member of the Board, nor do I have any vote on those delib-

erations, however, should anybody be interested how I feel.

Mr. Barr. Mr. Chairman, I am interested in your position, and
I am certainly interested in

The Chairman. I think we probably both expressed our concerns.

I think that when you are making major changes like this, you
have to make sure that farmers know that they have a real voice

in it, because dairy farmers here know that these changes can be

their whole life on their dairy farm. Farmers do not have big pen-
sion plans. They have a farm which they hope might be out of hock

by the time they are ready to retire, or their children or somebody
else might take it over.

That also pre-supposes there is a reason for a dairy farm to be

there anyway. So if they are going to make changes, they would
like some say in it, because there are enough things that they do

not have any say from weather to utility prices to markets going

up and down. I pass it out for whatever it is worth.

Thank you for coming here, and I am sorry we had to break to

vote. One interesting thing about that is that I had a number of

Senators come up to me on the floor, while we were voting, and tell

me that they were interested in what is going on in this hearing.
So I am glad to see that they are paying attention. Thank you very,

very much.
We are going to have for our next panel James Tillison, who is

the Executive Director and CEO of the Alliance of Western Milk

Producers in Sacramento; E. Linwood Tipton, the President and
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CEO of the International Dairy Foods Association, and a man who
has testified here many times before, and been very helpful to us
in that regard; Stewart Huber, President, Farmers Union Milk
Marketing Cooperative and also a dairy farmer from Clintonville,
Wisconsin. I thought I loaded things here. You really learn in a
hurry—as soon as I see the word Wisconsin—actually, we try to

put the witnesses alphabetically; but I think we started with a V,
and went right to W.
Mr. Tillison, thank you for coming here. I visited your area of the

country on different occasions. I think the cooperatives you rep-
resent, if I am correct in this, include about 90 percent of the Cali-
fornia producers, who in turn market about 95 percent of the
State's milk, which puts you in a league actually greater than most
countries I could name off the top of my head.

STATEMENT OF JAMES E. TILLISON, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
AND CEO, ALLIANCE OF WESTERN MILK PRODUCERS,
SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA
Mr. Tillison. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I just want to let you

know that the State of California is supporting the Vermont dairy
industry based on my consumption of Cherry Garcia.
The Chairman. It is an amazing success. I do not want to sound

like I am on their board or anything else. I get no proceeds from
Ben & Jerry's. In fact, there is a very net deficit in the Leahy
family because we live about 5 miles from where they make it. The
kids are going back and forth from the home. I think that the car

automatically swings in as they try to buy them out, but I do re-

member when that actually started. A former gas station, in down-
town Burlington, was just a short distance from my office, and as
an experiment, made some ice creams that were absolutely terrible.

They would try something else and try something else and then
they would hit on a formula. Now when I can walk into a little

town in north of St. Petersburg, in Russia, and see a Ben & Jerry's
stand—the guy is doing okay. Go ahead.
Mr. Tillison. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We appreciate being

given this opportunity to address your committee, regarding the ef^

feet on dairy trade of the Self-Help proposal. One of the primary
reasons the Alliance was formed was to explore new solutions for
the challenges the dairy industry faces. For example, the Alliance
has sponsored the formation of the Western Cooperatives Milk
Marketing Association. This marketing agency, in common, allows
Western Cooperative to share important market information, and
take market actions which have enhanced returns to all dairymen.
We are also concerned that the approach being proposed would

not result in any significant increase in dairy exports over and
above those currently being made through the DEIP program. The
NMPF Self-Help Program is designed to deal with surplus as it oc-

curs rather than emphasizing developing and expanding market
opportunities for U.S. dairy products. The importance of expanding
exports becomes evident, if we look at the domestic and inter-

national dairy situation.

First, the growth of domestic demand for dairy products—other
than for Cherry Garcia—is leveling. However, the international

marketplace is growing and expanding. The International Dairy
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Federation projects that dairy product import demand in Southeast

Asia, the Middle East, North Africa, and Latin America will grow
over 33 percent between 1990, and 1996. The Southeast Asia area
will experience a 41-percent increase in growth. Unfortunately for

the United States, we have not been able and, apparently will not
be able to, use DEIP to share in that growth in the Pacific Rim.
As Senator Feingold alluded to. National Milk Producers Fed-

eration and the Alliance tried very hard for over a year to get
the DEIP allocation expanded to the Pacific Rim. The USDA did

support our effort but in the interagency policy process. Apparently
U.S. foreign policy interests prevented U.S. producers from being
able to re-enter the Pacific Rim. This is difficult for dairy produ-
cers to accept.

Last year, right after we found out the Pacific Rim would not be

opened up to us, we learned that Australia has just cut a deal to

sell 80 million pounds of nonfat dry milk powder to Mexico for de-

livery in 1994. Apparently, Australia does not want the United
States in their export markets, but the U.S. export markets are fair

game for them. What we believe the industry needs is a program
that is going to open world markets.
The Alliance developed an alternative to the National Milk Self-

Help Proposal, and we have been discussing it with them. Basi-

cally, the Alliance plan is designed to optimize the commercial use
of milk, and dairy products through market-driven activities. Exist-

ing commercial channels would be used to make export sales. Man-
ufacturers and processors would submit bids. Our U.S. Dairy Board
would review and approve those export proposals based on specific

parameters.
The legislation that creates the U.S. Dairy Board would also cre-

ate a government-export sales price classification, applicable to all

Federal and State milk marketing systems. In concert with this,
would be a conversion to a uniform multiple component pricing sys-
tem that reflects the true value of milk components, based on the

products they are used in. Through this classification system, the
cost of milk used to produce products for export or government
sales would be shared equally by producers and processors, nation-
wide. We feel that this mechanism with an autonomous board
would remove the restrictions the GATT agreement places on the
DEIP and national milk programs.

I do not know how many people on the committee have seen this

publication yet, but it talks about the world markets and trade.

Also, there is some very interesting information. In 1993, the Unit-
ed States produced about 152 billion pounds of milk. The European
community, on the other hand, produced 246 billion pounds of
milk. Obviously, more than that. By the time the 6-year period of
the GATT agreement runs out, our DEIP supported exports of
butter will be reduced to 46 million pounds, whereas the EC's re-

duction will be only to 807 million pounds. Our nonfat exports will

be reduced to 150 million pounds. The EC's exports to 536 million

pounds. Here is a real shaker in cheese. Our export ability under
DEIP will be reduced to 6.7 million pounds. The EC's export sub-
sidies will be limited to only 672 million pounds of cheese in the
world marketplace.
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Finally, in the other category, the value-added categories such

as, yogurt, ice creams—things like that—the United States' ability
to support those exports will be down to 75,000 pounds. The EC's

ability to support exports, 2.1 billion pounds in the other category
of dairy products.

Since November, when we put forward our alternative, we have
been involved with discussions with the National Milk Producers
Federation. The Alliance also initiated a discussion with processors
as represented by the International Dairy Foods Association, be-

cause the success of such a program depends on industry coopera-
tion. A meeting is scheduled for April 4, between these industry or-

ganizations and the people we represent, to expand and continue
this dialogue. We are hopeful that these discussions and this proc-
ess will result in a dairy program that is beneficial to all parties
involved. However, we are just not at that point yet.

Let us talk about supply prevention—not supply and manage-
ment. We believe that is what is needed in this program. The other

major concern we have with the NMPF Self-Help proposal is the
excess purchases target assessment provision. These penalties will

not cause producers to suddenly stop milking a number of cows to

adjust their production. Producers will not alter their milk produc-
tion plans based on the possibility that there may be a penalty of

some amount. Dairying is a business and business people need in-

formation to make decisions on how much milk they are going to

produce. Their penalty assessment provision provides no informa-
tion for the producer to use in making production decisions. The
opportunity to know in advance the cost of expanding production,
and therefore, having the option to contract in advance—not to in-

crease production—gives producers information to make decisions
and manages supply, rather than deals with surplus.

In summary, let me say that the idea of an industry-driven dairy
program is intriguing. Developed properly, as part of a long-term
industry strategy, it could open some exciting and interesting op-
portunities for the U.S. dairy industry. Therefore, we urge the Sen-
ate Agriculture Committee to encourage the industry to continue
the process that has been started. Developing and enacting the

right dairy program is more important to the industry than enact-

ing a dairy program right now. Thank you, and I will answer any
questions you have.
The Chairman. Thank you very much. Before we go to questions,

let us hear from the rest of the panel. Linwood Tipton, the Presi-

dent and CEO of International Dairy Foods Association.

STATEMENT OF E. LINWOOD TIPTON, PRESIDENT AND CEO,
INTERNATIONAL DAIRY FOODS ASSOCIATION, WASHING-
TON, DC.

Mr. Tepton. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am pleased to be here.

Our organizations have about four primary thoughts that we would
like to leave with the committee today. There is no crisis nor ex-

pected crisis which warrants changing dairy policy this year. Dairy
policy should be considered with other agricultural policies when
the farm bill is developed next year. The second point is: The dairy

industry should establish a few goals and objectives and judge pro-

posed policy changes, as to how well the changes contribute to the
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overall goals, objectives, and targets. We are in the process of at-

tempting to do that as Jim just mentioned with the meeting of

April the 4th.

The proposal for the National Milk Producers Federation Pro-

gram, we believe is fatally flawed in two major areas and neither

of them should be a part of future dairy legislated policies. The
first of those flaws is the creation of an industry board with market
intervention powers. It is the market intervention powers that is

the problem. It is not the creation of a board. When you do that—
that merges, and confuses public and private interest—we feel it

would not meet a test of fairness.

Secondly, the second part of it is: The creation of a two-tier pric-

ing mechanism is counterproductive to increasing the profitability,

and decreasing costs that we think are extremely important to the

dairy industry, if we are going to be able to compete internation-

ally; and as we say later, I think that is an extremely important
objective for the industry.
We are prepared to work closely with the other dairy industry or-

ganizations, to attempt to develop policies that will increase profit-

ability to dairy farmers. We have a meeting, as Jim's already al-

luded on the fourth, in an effort to begin that dialogue. I am not

anticipating that in that single meeting that it is going to be com-

pleted, but hopefully we will have began the dialogue for that ef-

fort.

Prices in the dairy industry have been well above the support

price ever since 1986. The profitability in the industry has contin-

ued to improve, and I think that the dairy farming is in one of the

best financial shapes it has been in a number of years, as a result

of the current situation.

We believe that there are about four major objectives. There

probably could be a lot of others, but we are beginning with four

that are important and are the items that the dairy policy ought
to be tested against. The first of those is: Helping the industry to

continue to improve the efficiencies, and reduce cost, to improve
the competitive position of dairy foods with other foods in the Unit-

ed States; and to improve the competitive position of U.S. dairy
produced foods in other countries.

The U.S. milk production is undergoing major regional shifts.

Since 1985, the Upper Midwest has dropped from producing about
29 percent of the Nation's total milk production to 25 percent. Dur-

ing the same period, the specific region has increased its share

from 16 percent to 20 percent, pretty well offsetting the drop in

share of the Upper Midwest and further shifts in this are expected.

By the end of the millennium in the year 2000, we would expect
that there would be about another three point shift that will have
occurred.
This is not occurring without some reason. It is occurring largely

because the cost of production seems to be somewhat less in the

Western part of the country. We believe that one of the major ob-

jectives should be to help dairy farmers help themselves in tune
with the theme of this, but we believe that the objective for helping
themselves ought to be to increase profitability. We believe, by
moving toward the most efficient industry, that we can have and

84-506 0-94-3
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be able to create export markets, as a result of having our costs in

line, that we can compete in the world market is the proper way.
We have two or three specific suggestions that we would think

that the committee might be interested in looking at it—low cost

loans to smaller farmers to help them grow. I think this is probably
particularly important in the Upper Midwest, Senator Feingold. I

think that also helping some older farmers who may be not have
developed sufficient retirement benefits in some retirement pro-

grams, so that you can move the resources, I think the Upper Mid-
west—and about everybody agrees—has probably got to increase
some of its size of operations to gain the kinds of efficiencies that
will allow them to compete. We think the program ought to be con-
sistent with helping those things actually occur,

A second is developing new and expanded export market oppor-
tunities and this is the purpose of this hearing, and we think that
that—as about everybody has expressed—is extremely important to

the future of the industry. One of the things, that we probably
bring a slightly different view than some, is that we believe that
the best way to do that is to make sure that it is developed by an

industry. We have great fear of a board that might have a contin-

ued mentality of exporting butter, powder, and cheese. The United
States, for years, has looked at the world market as some place to

get rid of the surplus as have other countries. It seems that we
have got an opportunity now with the GATT to begin a process of

looking at the world market as actually a market. We think there
are several things that could help in that process.

I have attempted to list some of those. Funding of the DEIP, al-

though it will be reduced under the GATT. Full funding of the
maximum amount that we could export. Another one, that we
would love to see, is looking at DEIP sales for value-added prod-
ucts. They are pretty much limited now to butter, powder, cheese,
and we think that for the nonfat solids—it is in yogurt, or the non-
fat solids—it is in Jerry's ice cream, or the milkfat—that is in that.

They ought to be able to utilize those same things to develop mar-
kets that are probably going to be the longer range opportunity to

export. So we would like to see consideration of the DEIP program
to allow those kind of things.

Education, training, and export sales, my belief is that most of

the dairy industry does not have a very good appreciation about
what is necessary in order to participate, and actually, in fact, sell

and compete in international markets. I think some major effort,
in that regard, would be helpful. We listed two or three others
there.

Expand and better coordinate. Dairy research to improve and ex-

pand markets is another one. A fourth, that we hear a great deal

about, is the need to develop stability in the industry. We have de-

veloped a tool that can allow dairy farmers to improve their ability
to deal with the price fluctuations, and that is the dairy futures
markets. We believe that as you look at future legislation that
should include some ways to help enhance the ability of dairy farm-

ers, to utilize those markets to actually better protect themselves

against wide fluctuations in prices; and I think there are several

ways that that can be done. We will be happy to talk about those.
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We are certainly supportive of self-help programs, but we believe

that those are the kind of programs that ought to be put in motion
that allows the dairy farmers, and the industry to really develop
and perform itself in the low-cost, best, efficient manner. We are

pleased to have the opportunity to participate, and we would look

forward to working with you in the future.

The Chairman. Thank you very much, Mr. Tipton. Mr. Huber.

STATEMENT OF STEWART HUBER, PRESmENT, DAIRY
FARMER, FARMERS UNION MILK MARKETING COOP-
ERATIVE, CLINTONVILLE, WISCONSIN

Mr. Huber. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and Senator

Feingold. Let me say. Senator, Mr. Chairman, as well that I appear
here today on behalf of the 250,000 farm families who belong to the

National Farmers Union, but as along with my role as president
of the Farmers Union Milk Marketing Cooperative.

I serve as an ex-officio member of the National Farmers Union.
I have prepared a paper in some detail, but to conserve time, I

shall summarize the key portions of that paper, if you choose to

have it.

The Chairman. I appreciate that, but the whole paper will be put
in the record.

Mr. Huber. That is fine. At the outset, let me say we share the

frustration of the committee and many in the industry have experi-

enced, in seeking unity, and creating a national dairy policy that

works. We do acknowledge that, apparently, National Milk—at

least the leadership level—has reached some agreement. We must
tell you, however, that as Mr. Herness indicated in his remarks,
that we have just completed a series of regional and district meet-

ings as well. We had the opportunity to see thousands of dairy
farmers in the Midwest at those meetings, and two facts stand out.

First, there is, indeed, a general lack of understanding of what
Self-Help is and how it will work. Second, those who do understand

Self-Help almost universally oppose the plan as drafted. They have
two basic concerns. First, that Self-Help leaves the producers out
of the equation by providing inadequate assurance on the question
of producer income, and also they were concerned that the pending
general agreement on tariffs and trade would render the proposed
Self-Help Program ineffective.

Let me state the position of the National Farmers Union. You
will note on March 4 through 7, delegates—the Annual Convention
of the National Farmers Union in Fargo, North Dakota—debated
whether to oppose Self-Help or support the proposal, contingent on

significant changes being adopted. Delegates decided to reiect a

blanket statement of opposition or support. Instead, they aaopted
a position that National Farmers Union should continue to work
with Members of Congress and the dairy community to develop a

proposal which will enhance producer income, allow producers to

earn the cost production, plus a reasonable profit from the market-

place, and continue to provide a stable and high quality supply of

milk to consumers.
Now some of our concerns with the current proposal. Self-help

has been touted as a supplement to the dairy export incentive pro-

gram. Yet as Senator Lugar indicated, the general agreement on



32

tariffs and trade requires the United States to cut back on current

export subsidy levels. As I am sure the Members of the committee
know, under the Blair House Agreement, requires that the quan-
tity of subsidized exports be reduced by 21 percent with budgetary
exports subsidies reduced by 36 percent, using the 1986 to 1990

years as the period.
Elsewhere we have charts that show that we will need to signifi-

cantly reduce our current level of exported dairy products in order
to comply with this agreement. Therefore, while the Self-Help Pro-

gram may be GATT-legal, it would fall under the same constraints
that would control operations, the dairy export incentive program.
We see no need or benefit to having both programs, since allowable

export level is less than the current amount exported under DEIP.
It seems that we must have some mechanism to assure the pro-

ducers can earn their cost of production under the Self-Help Plan.

Producers are unwilling to accept new assessments or hidden milk
check deductions unless clear income or price objectives are guar-
anteed up front. The proposal asks specific price goals and is not

designed to enhance farm income, only to level peaks and valleys.
As the U.S. analysis from last October shows, Self-Help would in-

crease the average whole milk price over the 5-year study period
by less than 1 cent per hundredweight. In fact, USDA observed
that the farm cash receipts from milk marketing after the assess-

ments is to be projected to be $120 million lower during the 5-year
period. It is hardly the kind of prospects for great future for the

dairy industry.
We think that Self-Help is an administrative nightmare. When

there is an excess production, when trigger three is put into place,
a monthly quota on each producer is in place. I cannot imagine
farmers being very happy that potential. The proposal penalizes re-

gions which reduce production due to flooding and actual causes

beyond their control. The Midwest production is in free fall. While
it has been indicated around this table that the Sunbelt is going
gang busters, Self-Help is not targeted to small and medium sized
farmers as it should be. This affects us very dramatically.

Let us just assume that Self-Help is enacted by Congress this

year and the Secretary determined that the 7-billion-pound trigger
was to go into effect January 1, 1995. We take an average producer
out here in the Midwest whose production is down maybe 10 per-
cent, at a million-pound base, down to 900.000. Comes January 1,

1995, that producer would be subject to a $3 to $4 hundredweight
hit on a 100,000 pounds just to come back to his normal marketing.
Compare that with the producer in the Sunbelt who may have

a 60-million-pound base, increase his production in 1994 by 10 per-
cent. So he adds 6 million pounds and he has 66 million pounds
come January 1 with no penalty. Is that fair? Self-help encourages
over production and a race for base at exactly the wrong time.

It sends a market signal to producers to expand production to

avoid the sharp assessment when it appears that CCC purchase
will exceed the 7-billion-pound trigger in a succeeding year. Exactly
the wrong signal at exactly the wrong time. We should be trying
to level production. We are actually encouraging a race for base.

Self-help freezes on economic regional production patterns to the
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detriment of the industry that Senator Feingold so eloquently de-

scribed.

These are major considerations and they do concern farmers in

our area. We, therefore, respectfully submit that any consideration

of Self-Help be delayed and that any positive futures of the pro-

posed programs be included in a comprehensive new dairy program
in the 1995 Farm Bill to improve farm income and stabilize dairy
markets.
We were a little dismayed when we learned that apparently

there is again a shift in my paper. One of our first points is we
favor recent changes which do away with bloc voting and we
thought that had been accomplished in the provision. It apparently
has not been. So that continues to be a concern of ours.

The Chairman. If you were to take the things that are the high-
est priorities of the changes you would make, if you listed the two

highest priorities, what would they be? Bloc voting, would that be
one of them?
Mr. HuBER. It is only one of them. I guess I would list—I have

listed several.

The CHAiRMAN.The thing is nobody is going to have all the items

they want. If you had to pick say the two or three that are most

important to you, what would they be?
Mr. HuBER. Mr. Chairman, I am not negotiating with those who

are in a position right now.
The Chairman. I am not suggesting your negotiating, but I need

some guidance. I am trying to listen to everybody. If you had to

pick the two or three most important, what are they?
Mr. Huber. Well certainly this is a very highly important emo-

tional issue out there because farmers have to believe that the peo-

ple that are representing them do indeed represent them and they
are not part of a good old boy network.
The Chairman. You have heard my feelings on bloc voting.
Mr. Huber.We agree.
The CHAiRMAN.What else would you put right near the top?
Mr. Huber. In place of new producer assessments or Class IV ex-

pert pricing mechanisms, we believe that Class I prices should be
increased by a minimum of 50 cents per hundredweight throughout
the Nation to fund a self-help program.
The Chairman. Let me ask Mr. Tillison this. You proposed a

plan with a Class IV for exports and for government sales, as I re-

call. Am I correct in that?
Mr. Tillison. Yes, Sir.

The Chairman. The Self-Help Plan has that. Yet, you do not sup-

port the Self-Help Plan as such?
Mr. Tillison. We do not support the Self-Help Plan in its cur-

rent form simply because the Self-Help Plan continues the underly-
ing 5 billion pounds in the Grovernment. Our objective in our pro-

gram is number one to expand the marketing of dairy products on
a worldwide basis and to arrive at a forum that will allow us to

do that and not be subject to the current GATT limitations that
exist on DEIP export sales and that would exist most likely on the

national milk program as it is structured with the Class IV system
for that 2-billion-pound envelope that they are talking about.
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The Chairman. You had a Class IV for exports and government
sales. How does that fit in with California's separate State order
and Federal orders?
Mr. TILLISON. Basically, the proposal for an export government

sales class is that that is a national pool that all order systems, be

they State or Federal, are subject to participating in.

The Chairman. Including California's?

Mr. TiLLisoN. Absolutely, including California's. On the other

hand, our concept—and I will provide the committee with the de-

tails on our concept—is to adjust the values of milk's component
uses to maintain pool revenues, and producer incomes at their cur-

rent levels.

The Chairman. Suppose you pool the amount of milk produced
by vour members—and the amount by members of the National
Milk Producers. That is about 75 percent of the Nation's supply?
Mr. TILLISON. Easily.
The Chairman. Maybe more. If you did that, would you have to

create a new class for exports in government sales, or can you just
do it yourself?
Mr. TILLISON. One of the things the industry has discussed and

we have discussed it with National Milk is doing an export organi-
zation on our own. The problem is the response that you get from

dairymen is that well, if Mr. Huber is not participating in that, he
sees a benefit from it and I am picking up the cost of doing that
sort of thing. So the objective is, because all parties benefit, all par-
ties participate.
The Chairman. Let us say you have 80 percent of the market.

We will allow that 80 to 85 percent, does it make that much dif-

ference if somebody else benefits and gets a free ride? I am think-

ing, for example, you have several major types of work forces in an
area and they get together and negotiate a contract, and they get
paid X number of dollars. You have four or five little companies
around the area and as a result, because they get to the same mar-
ket pool, they have to pay their people roughly the same, but their

people are not having to pay for any of the costs of the negotiating.
Does it still make an enormous difference if the end result is you
are getting a profitable market for yourself?
Mr. TILLISON. I do not know if the size or the difference is as im-

portant as the philosophical concerns. I think I am fairly safe in

saying that our membership would be interested in all parties par-

ticipating in any such program.
The Chairman. Ideally, so would everyone. Still, I am trying to

figure out where we stand if a more stable and increased price is

the result of gathering together is that more valuable than philoso-

phy?
Mr. TILLISON. Possibly. I understand what you are saying, Mr.

Chairman.
The Chairman. I am not asking you for a definitive answer on

that. I am just trying to-

Mr. TILLISON. When we formed our marketing agency
The Chairman. We were trying to figure out now in heaven's

name to work through this problem with the same parameters I

have talked about before—declining amount of Federal dollars that
are going to be involved. It would not make an difference what
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your political philosophy is or what party you belong to, everybody
knows that is happening. We all know the market is changing for

different types of things. Consumer tastes change. Ways of market-

ing change. We know that there is a big export market out there
that we should be looking at. So now, 'The question is, 'How do we
do all of these things?'" In Hoard's Dairyman, they had an article

about the possibility of a marketing agency in common for dairy ex-

ports. Is that possible?
Mr. TILLISON. I think that is essentially what our program is

based on is forming this marketing agency in common with the en-
tire industry participating, including the processor organizations.
The Chairman. Suppose you do not get the entire industry. Is

there a point that you can do it both economically and philosophi-
cally? I am in no way denigrating the philosophical concerns. I

come from a State where we carry our philosophies very strongly.
We have a town meeting with four people. At that town meeting—
and you are going to hear all nine strong opinions on any subject—
with just four people there. So we carry this strongly. Is there a

point where philosophy and market advantages can work short of
100 percent of the industry?
Mr. TiLLisoN. It depends on the circumstances. Let us be honest,

Mr. Leahy, if we get to a point where there is no support program.
There is no government interest in the dairy industry at all, I am
convinced that my member organizations and I believe Mr. Barr's
member organizations are going to do whatever is necessary to

benefit and maintain our membership and the producers that pro-
vide milk to those members. So worse case scenario, I think, man-
kind reacts in a positive way and we would too. We certainly do
not want to see that scenario though, Mr. Leahy.
The Chairman. Whether I am Chairman or anybody else is

Chairman of this committee, we all know there is going to be less

money for dairy programs and what I am saying is while I am
Chairman, let us work together to provide the most flexibility with
that diminishing amount of money. What I want to do is see the

people work very, very hard in the dairy industry, as the Members
do, so they are able to get some decent return for their money. I

do not want to see us in this country suddenly have to start relying
on imported dairy products when we can easily provide all of the

dairy products we need and have plenty for exports.
Lastly, I want to see us move more aggressively into export mar-

kets as we do in other agricultural products, because at a time
when this Nation is facing some of the biggest export deficits we
have ever faced in the last 7 or 8 years, we have become a debtor
Nation on an enormous scale. One area where we have always had
a bright light is in agriculture. We have always exported overall
more agriculture than we have imported and Lord knows we
should with our great bounties of land, water, weather and every-
thing else. However, I would like to just see us do more in dairy
while we are at it.

Mr. TILLISON. Let me respond just quickly to two things. Number
one, we recognize that we are facing a declining Federal support
of the dairy industry. Our program is intended to utilize that sup-
port and give us the opportunity to develop an organization that
is going to allow us to take advantage of the export markets. We
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do not believe that the national milk plan as it currently is struc-

tured, even with the Class IV pricing, does that. We need to come
up with a plan that is going to be as GATT-legal as possible.
The Chairman. Let me ask Linwood Tipton a question. I do not

want to put words in your mouth, but it appears that your organi-
zation would prefer the status quo to Self-Help, but you have mem-
bers in the Upper Midwest that are going to be concerned about

the drop there, declining production in Iowa, Minnesota and Wis-

consin, what was it, Russ, about a 4-percent decline overall, I think

as an area in the Upper Midwest? I mean that has to affect your
members. I mean they are not going to start shipping product in

from New Mexico are they or are they?
Mr. Tipton. No. I would first like to respond to our position. I

do not think it would be correct to say that we would prefer the

status quo on into the future. We at this point do not believe that

we are ready to make a change and we believe that the farm bill

is a proper place to go through that process. We also believe that

there is a great need to expand exports and we have got the won-
derful opportunity to do that. The problem comes, along the same
line that Jim was talking about, of whether you are going to do
that between a government-controlled board that is going to prob-

ably go very heavy toward the traditional surplus commodities. It

is conceived as a surplus, getting rid of the surplus kind of concept,
as opposed to being perceived as; we are going to get into these ex-

port markets, and be competitive factors in the export markets.
I think it makes a big, big difference how you structure it. Now

whether the proposal from California will accomplish that, I am not
certain. We are taking a look at—we have been supporting GATT
for some period of time—because we felt very clearly that the Aus-
tralians and New Zealanders and the Irish Milk Board were a

small part of the world market, and they were going to take a

small part of that market; and they could continue to serve that
small part. If we could get the level of subsidization down, we are

the next major producer; and we can compete in that market.
So I am not sure we need—we may in some kind of a transition

period—need some kind of government assistance, but it seems to

me that we are in a position over the next farm bill period that we
ought to be moving toward—everything that we are doing—moving
toward a commercial export program that is not dependent upon
some board that is creating it and controlling it and trying to mo-

nopolize it. We do not want to stay where we are.

The Chairman. I understand, when I say status quo, and you
were right to add on there that you are talking about waiting for

the farm bill. On the other hand, will you not agree with me that,
because you have been here and seen enough farm bills going
through, it becomes kind of a meat grinder situation around here.

If the dairy industry, the producers, and the users are able to form
some consensus now, even if we do wait for the farm bill, and I am
not suggesting that we do; but even if we do, the time to start

forming that consensus is now. Not when we have the farm bill sit-

ting before this committee, and we are handling everything from

corn, wheat and every other issue.

The last farm bill that passed, even though it passed, and I guess
about the least amount of time any major farm bill has ever
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passed, it was still the longest piece of legislation ever passed by
the U.S. Senate. There are a lot of other issues in there besides

dairy.
Mr. Tipton. I think you are 100 percent correct in that regard.

It seems to us that there is unanimity of thinking in the industry
about the need to increase exports and put the United States into

strong competitive position. The argument right now, and it is a

food
argument it seems to me and the debate will be helpful, is

ow do we do that? Where we are wanting to go is if we can get
fully established that objective, and then we can start airing out,
how do you get there?
There is a proposal from California. There is a proposal in the

National Milk Producers Federation. I guess we think there are
some other ways of doing it as well. I think we are prepared to

begin that debate and discussion and hopefully come to some deci-

sion.

The Chairman. When your members do their long-term plan-
ning, their 5-year plans and 10-year plans, are they looking at the
idea of value-added exports?
Mr. Tipton. Definitely. The major increase in exports have been

in value-added products have been the ice cream business. There
is quite a bit of yogurt that is moving as well.

The Chairman. Is this primarily in bulk?
Mr. Tipton. No, these are in packaged United States package

products and sold overseas. We probably have—I counted the other

day that we have 20-some ice cream members who are now export-
ing. Now it is still a small volume, but they are beginning to get
their

The Chairman. Still, it is creating jobs. It is not just exporting
a product, but it is also creating extra jobs?
Mr. Tipton. Right and they are beginning to understand how

vou do it and how you get the contacts and how you deal with it,

oecause it is a whole different kind of situation.

The Chairman. It is not an overnight situation. You cannot just
say, here we are.

Mr. Tipton. Right.
The Chairman. Russ?
Senator Feingold. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I realize it is get-

ting late. I am getting hungry enough to eat a cow and this discus-
sion of ice cream and so on is getting difficult. I do have to say be-
fore I ask a few brief questions is that I obviously greatly admire
Ben & Jerry's and I have to just have a quick counter advertise-
ment. This week when I was in a place called Nelson, Wisconsin,
with my daughters right on the Mississippi River. We went into a
cheese factory there and I asked for a one-scoop ice cream cone,
peanut butter and chocolate. They said you cannot get that. You
can only have a two-scoop. I said, okay, how much? 50 cents. So
we went outside and watched bald eagles flying among the bluffs,
so we ate that. So there are some very idealistic scenes in Wiscon-
sin connected with ice cream, as well.

Mr. Chairman, the panel has even got a little more Wisconsin in

it than maybe the people in the room realize. I used to work for

Mr. Tillison when he used to work in Wisconsin, and now he
represents California. We did not always agree, but I had a
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tremendous regard for his intelligence and honesty on the issues.

So I appreciated hearing your comments and I just want to

clarify one point that the Chairman kind of got at. How do you ex-

plain the difference of proposing a Class IV price mechanism com-

pared to what National Milk is proposing to fund the removals by
the Self-Help- Board? How are the two actually different?

Mr. TILLISON. I think that basically the concept is the same. The
difference is how they are applied. The National Milk Class IV ap-

plication only applies to this 2-billion-pound window. What we are

looking at is saying we need to take a look at milk production and
milk marketing on a national basis and develop a system where we
are not dealing with a surplus window, but dealing with the neces-

sity of marketing the United States milk production and dairy pro-
duction on a worldwide basis from point zero to whatever.

Senator Feingold. For all production?
Mr. TILLISON. For all production.
Senator Feingold. Does your alternative require a Congressional

action or could it be done under existing law?
Mr. TiLLisoN. We believe Congressional action would be nec-

essary. Number one, to set up the Board as autonomously as pos-
sible from oversight by USDA and from interference for policy rea-

sons with our ability to market products.
Senator Feingold. Thank you very much. I will move on to Mr.

Tipton. You indicated a concern about a producer board if they had
market intervention powers. Are these concerns limited to govern-
ment-sanctioned boards or do you have the same concerns for pure-

ly autonomous boards formed voluntarily by producers as well?

Mr. Tipton. This was a situation, what we were reacting to was
a specific proposal here. This specific proposal would establish a
board that actually had powers to buy and sell export. They had
the powers to make the choices and the decisions as to when they
were going to execute those orders or those actions and introduced
another dimension in the market that was kind of guessing what
the Board was going to do.

Then secondly, it is a board that would have consisted of indus-

try people and these are industry people who compete with other

industry people and it becomes a very difficult thing to, I am sure,
divorce one self from—^my company has got this position, but I am
not going to tell anybody and I am not going to act on selling my
products or storing my products. You know, I am going to divorce

that, although I know this is what we are going to do at the Board.
So it is a real conflict of interest problem for us.

Our Board has said they do not care whether it is all farmers,
all processors, if it were the Board of our organizations, they would
not like it because others are going to be on the outside. I think
it is a very severe conflict of interest problem when you are getting
in market intervention powers, as this bill would do.

Senator Feingold. Thank you. I just have a question or two for

Mr. Huber, who I almost always agree with and has provided me
with advice for a good 10 years when I was on the State Senate
in Wisconsin, Agriculture Cfommittee. In your statement, you ques-
tion the Self-Help Plan's lack of stated price goals. In your opinion,
if there were overt milk price goals in a plan such as Self-Help,
what would the goals be?
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Mr. HUBER. I think it has got to be the cost of production. The
average cost of production which we really need and I think that
can be determined by USDA. I think that is the minimum goal.
When I am rethinking the Chairman's question to me, what is my
highest priority, I guess that is the highest priority, iust to clarify

it, even more important than who sits on the Boardf. I just want
it to work.

I should mention a couple of things. I think that we are as inter-

ested in keeping costs down as any and we are suggesting that the
National Dairy Board and this new board should be combined and
funded together. It does not make a lot of sense to have two of
them out there. It does not seem to me.
Senator Feingold. You also discussed your concern about the po-

tential for producers to build up their dairy herds at the wrong
time, as you said in anticipation of the supply management aspect
of Self-Help that would kick in over 7 billion under certain cir-

cumstances. Could you talk just a little bit more about how that

might impact on the program?
Mr. HuBER. I think that, of course it is always difficult to estab-

lish a base and quota system and may be the thing of it is every
year we are going to be establishing new bases. So as we move to-

ward a surplus situation where you are going to trigger 7-billion-

pound levels where you are going to have these excess penalties
put on producers, there is an immediate market signal out there
to that producer to go on in and increase the production at exactly
the wrong time for that national interest for the industry interest.
Senator Feingold. In order to avoid the consequence of later on.

Mr. HUBER. Because it makes sense, if you are paying 10 cents
a hundredweight assessment and it suddenly goes to $3 or $4, if

you do not get your base up there, hey you are in trouble.
Senator Feingold. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Gentlemen, thank you. Thank you for taking the

time.

[Whereupon, at 12:30 p.m., the committee adjourned, subject to

the call of the Chair.]
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PREPARED STATEMENTS

Thomas Magnant

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Senate Committee on Agriculture, Nutrition, and
Forestry. I appreciate the opportunity to testify today. I am Tom Magnant, a dairy
farmer from Franklin, Vermont. I would also like to introduce Leon Berthiaume,
who is the general manager of St. Albans Cooperative Creamery, and Bob Gray who
is executive director of CNFC.

I own and operate a 60-cow dairy farm in Franklin, a farming community on the
Canadian border. I am currently a member of the Board of Directors of St. Albans
Cooperative. The Cooperative was established in 1919 in St. Albans, Vermont and
has continued to serve dairy farmers in the northwestern portion of Vermont for al-

most three quarters of a century. We plan to observe our 75th anniversary in

October. In 1993, the Cooperative marketed over 773 million pounds of milk for its

570 members. We are proud of our ability to effectively serve our producer members
at a time when markets for dairy products are both volatile and extremely competi-
tive.

St. Albans Cooperative Creamery is also a member of the Council of Northeast
Farmer Cooperatives (CNFC), an association of four northeastern dairy cooperatives
which also includes Agri-Mark, Eastern, and Upstate. CNFC represents 6,000 dairy
farmers spread throughout the Northeast. We have recognized the importance of

working closely together on dairy policy matters and other issues of mutual concern.
I find the title of the hearing today, "Effect on Dairy Trade of the Self-Help Pro-

posal," to be a very timely and appropriate topic. The recent North American Free
Trade Agreement and the completion of the GATT negotiations have substantially
changed the potential for expanding export markets for dairy products. It is vitally

important for the U.S. dairy industry to begin to take advantage of global markets
and to become an active participant in marketing in U.S. dairy products throughout
the world. The emphasis of this hearing on the trade aspects of Self-Help clearly
reflects the need for a major shift in dairy policy toward a more proactive role for

our industry in the future.

If one examines dairy policy over the past 10 to 15 years, it has often be charac-
terized by one crisis after another. We have been through a series of milk price fluc-

tuations brought about by excess supplies of dairy products followed by tight sup-
plies which has resulted in a "roller coaster" effect on farm milk prices. Since 1983,
we have seen a milk diversion program and a whole-herd buyout utilized to reduce
excess national milk production. None of these programs have had a long-term sta-

bilizing impact on miUc
supplies

and prices. In tne past 4 to 5 years. Federal budget
constraints have begun to aominate all Federal farm program policy decisions. I do

not have to elaborate on this point since I know this committee is well aware of

the difficulties you have had to face in shaping the 1990 Farm Bill and annual
USDA budgets ever since.

With the implementation of a direct assessment on dairy farmers in the 1990
Farm Bill, we are now paying approximately 60 percent of the cost of the Federal

dairy program. It is clear that if we retain tne current policy of direct assessments,

(41)
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these assessments will increase in the future as the Federal Government moves to

require the dairy industry to cover all of the costs of the dairy program. We will

have no input on these decisions and less and less say about future dairy policy.
Therefore it is time that we as an industry start to assume more responsibility for

future dairy program policy. That is what the concept of Self-Help is really all

about—^helping ourselves rather than relying on the whims of the Federal budget
process. I believe that moving in this direction will not only improve our competitive
position in obtaining global markets, it will also enhance our milk prices.
Vermont provides a very good example of the importance of dairy farming to a

State's economy. Vermont Department of Agriculture data show that milk produc-
tion in the State was almost 2.5 billion pounds in 1993, a value of about 330 million

dollars in total income to Vermont's 2,195 dairy farmers. The impact of Vermont's

dairy industry to the economic well-being of the rural communities throughout the
State cannot be overstated. In addition to the dairy farms themselves, processing
facilities, feed and equipment suppliers, and other support services provide a major
economic benefit to tne State. Over 90 percent of all agricultural dollars generated
in Vermont are from its dairy industry.
However, the lack of stable prices and adequate income has taken its toll on dairy

farmers in Vermont. Figures irom the State Department of Agriculture show a de-

cline in the number of dairy farmers in Vermont from 3,372 in 1980 to 2,195 at the
end of 1993. This is a loss of almost 1,200 dairy farmers and more than a third of

the dairy farms in the State in a period of just 13 years. Although annual milk pro-
duction in the State has continued to climb as a result of botn the expansion of

herd-size and increased production per cow, the trend in the loss of dairy farms in

Vermont is not encouraging. Vermont is extremely dependent on the continued eco-

nomic
viability

of its agriculture.
I mentioned earlier in my testimony that the dairy industry should strongly con-

sider a much more active role in shapmg future dairy policy. I believe that it is time
as an industry to take on more responsibility

to market dairy products and to keep
production in line with supplies. Tne dairy cooperatives represented by NMPF are
united behind the idea of establishing a self-help program during this legislative
session of Congress.
This does not mean that all farm organizations and agricultural groups agree

fully
with the Self-Help concept. Some organizations want a cost-of-production for-

mula combined with a quota or base system to set milk prices and control excess

production. However, this committee knows full well that given the budgetary con-

straints facing the Federal farm programs, combined with the lack of political sup-
port to pass such a program, this approach is not feasible. We must therefore focus

our efforts on what can be accomplished and what will be most beneficial to us in

the long run.
One of the main components of the Self-Help Program is the establishment of a

Dairy Board that would represent producers, processors, and other dairy experts
across the country. Its main purpose would be to act as a marketing arm for dairy
products internationally. The nearing today is based primarily on this question—can

Self-Help have an efi"ect on dairy trade? I believe that it clearly can.

As you know. Senator Leahy, our northeast dairy cooperatives have a keen inter-

est in developing export markets for dairy products. Also, in the past 2 years, with

your help, CNFC has been actively involved in pushing increased humanitarian aid

to the republics of the former Soviet Union. Our efforts were aimed at both helping
the poor, the elderly, and the children of the emerging democracies in this part of

the world and setting the stage for the potential future sale of dairy products to

Russia and the other countries in this region. In addition, we have appreciated your
efforts to help CNFC explore the potential of establishing an export marketing orga-
nization for dairy cooperatives in the Northeast.

Although humanitarian aid through various Federal programs is an important
component of increasing dairy exports, there are limits to this approach. The U.S.

dairy industry needs to actively market and sell dairy products throughout the
world. A recent study by the General Accounting Office illustrates this point very
well. The GAO report snows that although the United States produces about 150
billion pounds of milk annually,

we export only about 2 percent of our total produc-
tion. New Zealand, on the otner hand, which has an active and aggressive MiUt

Marketing Board, exports almost half (48 percent) of its total annual milk produc-
tion according to GAO. Certainly the U.S. dairy industry can do better than its

record to date.

GAO also pointed out in its report another very important shortcoming in U.S.

dairy export efforts. It found that we have developed very little "marketing exper-
tise in international trade. The establishment of a Dairy Board as envisioned in

the Self-Help Proposal would help us obtain that expertise. It would provide a much
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needed structure for market development and sales of dairy products. In short, a

Dairy Board established and funded by the U.S. dairy industr>' could result in the

following short-and long-term benefits:

(1) Allow the U.S. dairy industry to take advantage of the provisions of NAFTA
by increasing dair>' exports to Mexico. This country is one of the largest importers
of dairy products in the world yet the United States accounts for only about 15 per-
cent of the dairy products purchased by Mexico.

(2) Become fully prepared to expand exports to other parts of the world, including
Central and South America, the Pacific Rim, and the ^iiddle East when the imple-
mentation of GATT takes place starting in mid-1995.

(3) Expand both the amount and the type of dairy products exported beyond bulk

products such as cheese, milk powder, and butter. The U.S. dairy industry should
also focus heavily on potential export markets for value-added products such as yo-

gurt, ice cream, condensed milk, and specialty cheeses.

(4) Continue to use the Dairy Export Incentive Program (DEIP) as an important
component of market development and sales as it is phased down in response to the

provisions of the GATT agreement. DEIP can and should be utilized to its fullest

extent over the next 2 years until GATT requirements reduce the amount of funds
available over a period of several years.

(5) Allow the dairy industry in the Northeast, the Upper Midwest, and the Pacific

Northwest to take advantage of potential new markets for dairy products in Canada
as the result of the final GATT negotiations.

(6) Ensure that the Dairy Board is fully operational on an annual basis in order
to develop marketing expertise, locate potential markets, and make sales of U.S.

dairy products. A Dairy Board cannot function effectively unless it is staffed and
operational on a permanent basis.

There is no question that a Dairy Board could have a positive and lasting effect

on future dairy trade.

The last issue that remains is one of controlling future excess milk production.
If we are successful in dramatically increasing dairy exports in the next 5 to 10

years, our efforts will result in improved and stable prices to dairy farmers. How-
ever, if milk supplies continue to exceed demands, a national program to curb over-

Sroduction
is clearly needed. What form it will take is still under consideration. The

louse bill H.R. 2664 has a number of provisions to discourage overproduction, in-

cluding a "targeted assessment" on dairy farmers who increase production when ex-

cess supplies nationally exceed 7 billion pounds and the blend price drops to within
50 cents of the Federal support price. Hopefully this will be an eflective deterrent
to overproduction. However, any self-help program passed by Congress needs to give
the Dairy Board the authority to discourage excess milk production and to assess
the cost to those producers who are responsible for the increase in supplies.

In summary, St. Albans Cooperative Creamery and the Council of Northeast
Farmer Cooperatives believe that a properly designed self-help program can be a

very important tool for the dairy industry. Its benefits would include the following:

(1) The enhancement of milk prices for dairy farmers throughout all regions of

the country.

(2) The long-term stability of the price of dairy products and avoiding the "roller

coaster" efTect of price fluctuations in the past.

(3) Allowing the United States to expand markets for both bulk and value-added

dairy products throughout the world.

I appreciated the opportunity to testify today and look forward to answering any
questions from Members of the committee. Thank you!

Everette Harness

My name is Everette Hemess. I am a dairy farmer from Whitehall, Wisconsin.
I milk 60 cows, so I'm under the cows every day, and I still get a wet tail in the
face from time to time. My son, Todd, is gradually phasing into the business, so I'm

very interested in the future of our industry.

My daily cooperative is Land O'Lakes, and I serve as the first vice president of

the Land O'Lakes Board of Directors. In that capacity, I represent 4,200 dairy farm-
ers in the Upper Midwest. I also represent Land O'Lakes on the Board of the Na-
tional Milk Producers Federation.

I'm here to express my personal support, and Land O'Lakes support, for the
Dairy

Self-Help Program. In September of 1991, the Land O'Lakes Board took a hard look
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at the U.S. dairy situation. We decided that price volatility was the most disruptive
factor affecting dairy markets today.

Since then, Land O'Lakes has worked within NMPF to help develop a dairy self-

help program that would provide the dairy industry with the tools it needs to deal
with volatility. We're very enthusiastic about the potential for Self-Help, and we see
three major benefits for dairy farmers and the dairy industry:

1. Stability
—The Self-Help Stabilization Board should have the authority to in-

tervene in the marketplace and buy dairy products at times when growing inven-
tories threaten to destabilize prices. By removing excess inventories from the mar-
ket, the stabilization board will promote moderate and tolerable price adjustments.
We expect that the board's action will reduce or eliminate the roller coaster price

drops that have plagued our industry for the past 5 years. This will benefit dairy
farmers and cooperatives. But it also will benefit farm lenders and our rural econ-

omy which suffers from the sharp swings in dairy income.

2. Market development—The stabilization board needs to have broad authority to

export dairy products that it removes from the domestic market. We expect that the

Self-Help Program will coordinate its exports with USDA and the Dairy Export In-

centive Program. While DEIP operates to offset unfair competition in targeted na-

tions, Self-Help exports will focus on qjjening new markets for U.S. dairy products.

3. Price enhancement—Dairy product exports are a proven way to strengthen
milk prices for American dairy farmers. In 1992, DEEP exports increased milk prices

by 50 cents to $1 per hundredweight. We expect that for every 7 cents spent by the

Self-Help Stabilization Board on exporting dairy products, U.S. milk producers will

realize 60 cents in higher milk prices.

With that explanation of why I support Self-Help, I'll use the rest of my time to

focus on the effect of Self-Help on dairy product exports, which is the main topic
of this hearing.
American dairy farmers need Self-Help in order to respond to changes in the mar-

ketplace for our milk and products made from it. For more than 50 years, U.S. dairy
policy struggled to balance domestic supply and demand. But that policy is no

longer relevant to the future of our industry.
• Through increased productivity, U.S. dairy farmers have the capacity to

produce more milk than our domestic consumers need or want.

• Through improved technology and transportation, our milk processing industry
can serve markets that extend far beyond the small, regional markets that our na-
tional dairy policy is designed to regulate.

• And landmark trade agreements like GATT and NAFTA have thrown our in-

dustry into a world marketplace.

Current dairy policy is inadequate to respond to these developments. The Self-

Help Program was designed specifically for them.
Under the terms of GATT, the United States must permit access to our domestic

markets for 31,000 metric tons of imported cheese. In a market where even the

slightest increase in cheese supplies can send the price into a free fall, this increase
in imports poses a very serious threat.

Our only rational response is to be prepared to meet the competition in a world
market. GATT will reduce the subsidies that many of our competitors now use to

artificially depress world dairy prices. In addition, our trade partners must provide
increased access to their markets. The Self-Help Program provides U.S. dairy farm-
ers with a means to break into these new markets, develop new customers, and re-

move excess cheese supplies from our domestic markets.
I believe that the Self-Help Program is oriented toward providing a market for

producers who will be the future of our industry, serve as the chairman of the

Young Cooperator Advisory Committee of National Milk. This is the corps of dairy
farmers who will benefit from the success of Self-Help. I'm pleased that thej^ve
worked hard to gather the signatures on the petitions asking for action on the Self-

Help Plan.

Land O'Lakes is firmly committed to building a broad base of support for Self-

Help within the dairy industry. We urge the Ag Committee to move ahead with

marking up a bill to make Self-Help a reality for our milk producers and our indus-

try.

Thank you for your attention this morning.



45

James C. Barr

Mr. Chairman, I am James C. Barr, Chief Executive Ofiicer of the National Milk
Producers Federation. The National Milk Producers Federation is the national farm
commodity organization that represents dairy

farmers and the dairy cooperative
marketing associations they own and operate throughout the United States.
Thank you for affording me the opportunity of testify before the Committee about

the impact of the Federation's Self-Help Program on Dairy Trade.

First, please allow me to explain briefly what Self-Help seeks to accomplish and
how it would work.

Simply put, the program is intended to stabilize domestic milk markets and im-

prove U.S. dairy producer income, while at the same time save millions of dollars
in taxpayers' money. It is a program that recognizes today's realities, exercises re-

sponsibility by the industry for the industry, and offers the potential of dramatically
increasing our Nation's level of dairy exports. And it does it without the expenditure
of Federal budget dollars.

Self-Help would create a producer-funded Dairy Stabilization Board to remove
surplus dairy products from commercial markets in a timely manner. These sur-

pluses, estimated at between 5 and 7 billion pounds, milk equivalent, would be ex-

ported or disposed of in domestic market outlets. Such intervention would take place
when prices are weak or dropping, but before they reach current support levels.

Self-Help is best explained as a four stage program. In Stage One, for the first

5 billion pounds of removal, the current program is in place but under Self-Help the
current budget reconciliation assessment is reduced to 10 cents and is refundable
to farmers who do not increase production from the previous year.

In Stage Two, when removals are between 5 and 7 billion pounds, the Self-Help
Board activates a Class IV price for skim milk and butterfat used to produce dairy
products that are exported. In Stage Three, when removals are greater than 7 bil-

lion pounds, the Board continues to operate. The CCC buys the surplus over 7 bil-

lion pounds using assessments paid by dairy farmers to fund the purchases, but un-
like under current law, refunds would be available to farmers producing the same
or less than a year ago.

In Stage Four, when the surplus is greater than 7 billion pounds and manufactur-
ing prices drop to within 50 cents of support for 2 consecutive months. Stage Three
assessments are suspended and a temporary assessment is triggered on surplus
marketings of up to 25 percent of last year's marketings. The temporary assessment
remains in effect until prices rise to $1.50 or more above support for 2 consecutive
months.
The impact would be higher prices to dairy farmers of at least five times the cost

per hundredweight of the program. The assessment for farmers would be up to 20
cents per hundredweight, compared to the llVi cents that they currently are as-
sessed by the Federal Government, all of which goes to the Federal treasury.
However, NMPF members will accept this because they know they will be able

to control their own destiny. Under this program, the assessment would be industry-
imposed, and it would be used for the

dairy industry.
y The funds collected would facilitate U.S. dairy exports both directly, through

payment of bonuses to exporters or direct acquisition and resale by the Dairy Sta-
bilization Board, and

indirectly, by funding dairy export development projects.
Both of these activities would give U.S. dairy farmers critical tools to stabiHze do-

mestic prices and develop important overseas markets for U.S. dairy products. Mr.
Chairman, Self-Help is the right thing to do, and it is the right time to do it.

We must recognize the hard fact that Federal support to dairy is on the decline.

And, we must recognize that international markets represent our best hope for in-

dustry market expansion.
We re here today to discuss the impact of the program on trade. Much depends

on which scenario ultimately occurs, and from our perspective, there are perhaps
four that might be possible.
We know we will be living in an era of increasingly free trade, influenced by

GATT, by NAFTA, and by the U.S.-Canada free trade agreement. Still, there will

be some parameters that will affect both exports and imports, specific parameters
that will apply individually in each trading partnership.
The best scenario, given these realities, would be that the U.S. Government would

fully fund and provide for an effective and functional Dairy Export Incentive Pro-

gram (DEIP). Tne Federal Government would, thus, continue to purchase product
through CCC and export through DEIP.
Above and beyond that, our Self-Help Program would provide for additional ex-

ports, particularly of products not covered by DEIP and to additional countries
around the world that could well be viable potential markets.
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It is no secret that the Federation has been pushing hard to expand markets for

dairy products from Russia to the Pacific Rim. Our goal is to take advantage of any
and every export opportunity to help keep milk prices at or near last year's levels,

and to build for the future.

Another scenario would see a world with GATT in place, DEIP in place and fully

funded and functional, but Self-Help held in the wings. The structure would be

there, but its function would be promotional only.
It would be in place in case DEIP

is not funded, and then once that occurred, Self-Help would kick in.

That, of course, leads us to the third possible scenario: No DEIP. No DEIP fund-

ing. Our Self-Help Program would then take over and be responsible for all dairy

exports within the GATT, NAFTA, and U.S.-Canada environments.
The final scenario, which we shudder to think about, would see neither program

in place. No DEIP for the support it currently provides. No self-help program to take

up the slack and provide a means for the industry to help itself cope with the sur-

pluses that we have in this country, and will continue to have, and to take advan-

tage of those many opportunities that exist beyond our borders.

Mr. Chairman, and Members of the committee, we must face the fact that every

year we have domestic production that will not clear the market, and with a popu-
lation that's barely growing and with changing consumer habits, consumption is just
not keeping up.

Frankly, our industry's objective is to sell all the milk we produce but that objec-
tive is getting more difficult because of stagnant domestic markets and the expected
increase in dairy product imports.

If we do not have the means to expand U.S. dairy exports to the maximum extent

eossible,

what will happen to milk prices, dairy products and dairy farmers in the

United States?
The U.S. dairy industry can be competitive in certain world markets for certain

products. By eliminating tariffs and getting rid of other barriers under NAFTA, we'll

sell a heck of a lot of milk in Mexico, for example. In addition, Japan, Korea, the

European Union, and eventually Canada will offer some new markets for the U.S.

dairy industry as a result of the GATT agreement. But we cannot do the job prop-

erly without a uniform industry-wide program in place that would have the sanction

and support of our Government.
We know that DEIP has been a major force in keeping domestic prices strong over

the past few years. It's a program that has been extremely successful, and we con-

tinue to support it. We appreciate the fact that it has been funded this year but,
does the recent but very late announcement of DEIP allocations signal the adminis-
tration's reluctance to fund the DEIP program in future years? Literally hundreds
of millions of dollars of U.S. dairy farmer income currently ride on the answer to

this question.
We also know and recognize another reality. The Federal Government is dead

broke and the heat is on to cut the budget wherever possible. We know that DEIP
is on the chopping block along with the MPP, the generic market promotion pro-

gram. That's why Self-Help is so important. It can take up the slack. It can do it

with industry money. And in return, the industry will be able to control its own fu-

ture.

I sadd earlier that it was the right thing to do and the right time to do it.

That's especially true given the environment that we're in today. Next year we
will be debating a new farm bill, and we believe that it's critical to get Self-Help
enacted before it gets caught in the tangled web of controversy over that comprehen-
sive and complex legislation.

Further, Self-Help will enhance dairy farmer income and at the same time save

the Government money. If we wait another year, that will be a year's worth of po-
tential income increases that will be lost, and a year's worth of potential tax dollar

savings that will have disappeared. And, precious time will be lost in competing eq-

uitably in the world markets while our competitors will be moving ahead.
Another important consideration is that today the dairy industry is behind the

Self-Help Program. Prices are relatively good. The sea is calm. It is time to take

bold action.

Will that same environment be with us next year? There are enough economists
who say "no" that it makes you worry. They say prices will be low as production
outpaces domestic demand growth. Further, uncertainty surrounds the 1995 Farm
Bill debate as well as the 1995 budget reconciliation legislation.

Will the industry continue to be together? That is hard to say. There is reason

to believe that it won't, but then again, we just don't know.

Thus, as we look to the future, there is reason to be both optimistic and con-

cerned.
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Optimistic if we have the means to fully take advantage of international trade op-
portunities. But concerned that free trade environment could exist without DEIP
and without Self-Help. Suddenly the dairy industry would be faced with increased

imports into the U.S. market, which as we know is a very delicately balanced mar-
ket that could be disrupted very easily.

I would like to make one additional point. Recently, the General Accounting Oflice
issued a report suggesting that the U.S. dairy industry was lagging behind in cap-
italizing on world trade opportunities. It called for a new cooperative program be-
tween industry and government to turn that around, and, in fact, the USDA agreed.
Our Self-Help Program is designed to do precisely that. It is designed to recognize

today's political and economic realities, and to take the U.S. dairy industry into a
new era of self-sustaining strength and viability.

Our ability to trade in the export market is a critical part of that future.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will be pleased to respond to any questions that you
or your Colleagues might have.

James E. Tillison

Mr. Chairman, the Alliance of Western Milk Producers appreciates being given
this opportunity to address your committee regarding the "Effect on Dairy Trade of
the Self-Help Proposal."
The Alliance provides representation and other services to the major cooperative

organizations based in California as well as the State's two major dairy farmer
trade associations. As a result, the Alliance represents over 90 percent of the daiiy
farmers in California, producing over 95 percent of the milk.
One of the primary reasons the Alliance was formed is to explore new solutions

for the challenges the daiiy industry faces. For example, the Alliance sponsored the
formation of the Western Cooperatives Milk Marketing Association. This marketing
agency-in-common allows Western cooperatives to share important market informa-
tion and take market actions which have enhanced returns to all dairymen.
The Alliance has participated in two hearings on Self-Help. in both instances, we

urged the House Livestock Subcommittee to take care not to push through a pro-
gram that could, in our opinion, result in increased costs to dairymen with no ofl^t-

ting increase in producer revenue.
We are also concerned that the approach being proposed would not result in any

increase in dairy exports over and above those currently being made through the
DEIP program. This is because the NRPF Self-Help Program is designed to deal
with surplus when it occurs rather than expand the market opportunities for U.S.

dairy products.
The importance of the ability to expand exports becomes evident if we look at the

domestic and international dairy situation. First, the growth in domestic demand for

dairy products appears to be leveling. While we hope that 1993 was a fluke, a num-
ber of observers leel it could be representative of domestic dairy demand situation
for the foreseeable future.
The international marketplace, in contrast, appears to be growing, especially in

the area known as the Pacific Rim. The International Dairy Federation projects that

dairy product import demand in Southeast Asia, the Middle-East and Northern Afri-

ca, and Latin America would grow over 33
percent

between 1990 and 1996. South-
east Asia will experience a 41 percent growtn. Unfortunately, the United States has
not and will not be using DEIP to share in that growth in the Pacific Rim.
The Alliance has participated in an industry group (with NMPF and others) try-

ing to get the Pacific Rim opened to the DEIP program. However, apparently due
to the strategic importance of New Zealand and Australia and the heavy lobbying
by those two countries, our request, which USDA supported, has been denied. U.S.

foreign policy interests prevented U.S. milk producers from using DEIP to re-enter
the Pacific Rim.

This is difficult for U.S. milk producers to accept, especially Australia sold over
80 million pounds of milk powder to Mexico for delivery in 1994. Apparently, Aus-
tralia doesn't want the United States in their export markets, but our export mar-
kets are fair game.

A PROGRAM THAT OPENS WORLD MARKETS

With the goal of developing a dairy program that would allow U.S. dairymen to

compete in the world marketplace, the Alliance developed an alternative to the
NMPF Self-Help proposal. The recently completed GATT negotiations offer the
United States little hope of expanding its share of the world market unless such



48

a program can be developed. To do this, an autonomous dairy industry board should
be established which is responsible not for disposing of surplus, but for optimizing
the commercial use of U.S. milk and dairy products through market-driven activi-

ties.

This board, made up of producers, manufacturers and processors, would be re-

sponsible for developing both short term and long term forecasts of producer milk

marketings, domestic market dairy product use, government dairy product use and
the level of product exports. Based on these forecasts, the desired product mix, the

appropriate timing for export/government sales and the revenue generated by these
sales would be determined.

Existing commercial channels would be used to make export sales. Manufacturers
and processors would submit bids and the Board would review and approve these

export proposals based on specific parameters that would include that proposals do
not replace existing U.S. product export sales and proposals that would nave the
lowest impact on producer prices.

All segments of the dairy industry, as well as consumers, benefit from a stable

domestic dairy market. Therefore, the legislation that creates the U.S. Dairy Board
would also create an export/government sales price classification applicable to all

Federal and State milk marketing systems. In concert with this would be a conver-
sion to a uniform multiple component pricing system that reflects the value of milks

components based on the products they are used in.

Through this classification system, the cost of miUc used to produce products for

export and/or government sales would be shared equally by producers and proc-
essors nationwide. We feel that this mechanism with an autonomous board would
remove the restrictions the GATT agreement places on the DEIP and NMPF pro-

grams.
Since November, when we put forward this alternative, we have been involved in

discussions with the National Milk Producers Federation. The Alliance also initiated

discussions with processors as represented by the International Dairy Foods because
the success of such a program depends on industry cooperation. A meeting is sched-
uled for April 4 between industry organizations to expand and continue the dia-

logue.
We are hopeful that these discussions and this process will result in a dairy pro-

gram that is beneficial to all involved parties. However, we are not at that point
yet.
We remain concerned that the NMPF Self-Help approach even in its form will

face the same limitations on export activities Dairy Export Incentive Program will

face under GATT. Perhaps importantly, the NMPF Seli-Help Program would prob-
ably he the same international relations type of restrictions the DEIP program cur-

rently faces and will likely continue to face.

Mr. Chairman, the National Milk Producers Federation has cited two major rea-
sons why the dairy industry needs to look at self-the erosion of government support
of dairy and the need to dairy exports. If the support program is going to be on the

chopping block, and if maintaining and expanding exports to enhance producer in-

come is a major part of the solution, then a program needs to be structured in a
different way. A am is needed that will be part of an overall strategic plan for the

dairy industry. Export activities cannot be pursued only there is surplus, they must
become part of an overall, long-industry marketing strategy.
The alternative approach we are discussing with NMPF and IDFA is a program.

It is a program that is more likely to be considered a "clean" program. It is a pro-
gram that can be independent of government supports (and oversight) and therefore,

probably not face GATT limitations. We believe such a am should be fully explored
before a major change in the direction of dairy policy is made.

SUPPLY PREVENTION, NOT SURPLUS MANAGEMENT IS NEEDED

The other major concern we have with the NMPF Self-Help approach at its intent

is to deal with surplus, not prevent it. The excess purchases/targeted assessment

provisions will not prevent production of surplus, they only penalize it.

These penalties will not cause producers to suddenly stop milking a number of

cows to adjust their production. Producers won't their milk production plans based
on the possibility that may be a penalty of some amount.

Dairying is a business and business people need information to decisions on how
much milk they are going to produce. Their penalty assessment provision provides
no information for a producer to use in making production decisions. The oppor-
tunity to know in advance the cost of expanding production and having option to

contract in advance not to increase production does.
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SUMMARY

The idea of an industry-driven dairy program is intriguing. Developed properly,
as part of a long-term industry strategy, it could open some exciting opportunities.
The industry needs to be given the opportunity to develop a program that can.

Therefore, we would urge the Senate Agriculture Committee to encourage the indus-

try to continue the process that has been started. Developing and enacting the right

dairy program is more important to the industry than enacting a dairy program
right now.
Thank you for this opportunity and I will now answer any questions.

E. Linwood Tipton
Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to present the views of the Inter-

national Dairy Foods Association's constituent groups—the Milk Industry Founda-
tion, the National Cheese Institute, and the International Ice Cream Association.
The member companies of these associations process, manufacture, and market
about 85 percent of all dairy products consumed in the United States; therefore,
have a intense interest in dairy policies, and their potential impact on this $62 bil-

lion industry.

FOUR POINTS

Our organizations have four primary thoughts we would like to leave with the
committee today:

• There is no crisis, nor expected crisis, which warrants changing dairy policy
this year. Dairy policy should oe considered with other agriculture pohcies, when
the Farm Bill is developed next year.

• The dairy industry should establish a few goals and objectives, and judge pro-

posed policy changes as to how well the changes contribute to its overall goals, ob-

jectives, and targets.
• The proposal for the National Milk Producers Federation's Program is

fatally
flawed in two major areas—neither of which should be a part of future, legislatea,

dairy policies; first, the creation of an industry board with broad market interven-
tion powers, merges and confuses public and private interest, violating a primary
test of fairness; second, the creation of a "2-tier" pricing mechanism is counter-

productive to improving profitability and competitiveness. It impedes the industry
from becoming more efficient, which is sorely needed, to stay competitive in an
emerging international market.

• Mr. Chairman, our organizations are prepared to work closely, with other dairy
industry organizations, to develop policies that will help increase the profitability
for dairy farmers, and other industry organizations. In fact, we have taken the ini-

tiative to set up a meeting of the leaders of our
organizations. The National Milk

Producers Federation and the Western Alliance of Western Milk Producers is sched-
uled for April 4, 1994. We are hopeful that a framework for developing consensus,
goals, and dairy policy targets can result from that meeting.

NO ACTION WARRANTED THIS YEAR

Prices paid dairy farmers for all milk has been well above the support price ever
since 1986 and continues to be well above.

Year
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We are expecting milk prices paid to dairy farmers to remain high throughout
1994. We also expect feed prices to decline as well. Profitability of dairy farming
is expected to be even higher in 1994/95 than last year, and last year was very good.

The dairy farm industry is in the best financial condition it has had the oppor-
tunity to experience for several years.

Probably the weakest point is the sagging demand for dairy products; the Federa-
tion's proposed program does virtually nothing to address that problem.

Legislative policy for various agriculture commodities can not, and should not be

developed, and considered in isolation from other products. Clearly, policies relating
to grain output, and pricing will impact the cost to dairy farmers enormously, be-
cause feed costs tend to be about 50 percent of total costs for dairy farmers. Like-

wise, feed costs greatly affect the meat industry which also impinges on dairy farm-
ers' economic decisions, and therefore, the volume of milk produced.

Policies afTecting all of these commodities will, and should be discussed and devel-

oped, simultaneously. This will be done next year. Legislated dairy policy should be
a part of those debates.

TESTINE POLICY AGAINST INDUSTRY CONSENSUS GOALS AND TARGETS

We believe, there are about four major objectives upon which the industry is gen-
erally agreed. However, the Federation's program fails the test, when measured
against objectives that most of the industry would accept. Among the objectives on
which we believe dairy policies should be based:

• Helping the industry continue to improve efficiencies and reduce costs
to improve the competitive position of aairy foods with other foods in the
United States and to improve the competitive-position of U.S. produced
dairy foods with those produced in other countries.

U.S. milk production is undergoing major regional shifts. Since 1985 the Upper
Midwest has dropped from producing 29 percent of the Nation's total milk produc-
tion to 25 percent. During that same period, the Pacific region increased its share
from 16 percent to 20 percent—offsetting the drop in the Upper Midwest. Further
shifts are expected. By the end of the millennium, the Upper Midwest will likely
lose another 3-share points which will be picked up in the Pacific region. By the

year 2000, each of these regions will be producing aoout the same amount of milk,
and will account for about 45 percent of all milk produced in the United States. This
is a significant transition, and will continue to lower the average costs of producing
milk, since the costs in the Western Region are lower than in the Midwest.
To ease the transition to a more efficient industry, one might consider, low-cost

loans to help smaller dairy farmers grow, and thereby, increase their efficiency and
reduce per unit costs. Retraining would provide a positive step to help some transi-
tion out of dairy farming, and a supplemental, retirement benefit for older farmers

wanting to quit dairy farming, but not having sufficient resources to do so may be

appropriate.

The Federation's program does little, if anything, to improve efficiencies. In fact,
it may well impede the increased efficient production that is now occurring. Easing
the transition of these shifts may be worthy of consideration.

• Develop New and Expanded Export opportunities for Dairy Foods

Mr. Chairman, we believe expanding exports of dairy foods offers by far the great-
est opportunity to increase consumption of dairy foods, thereby improving profit-

ability for dairy farmers and others in the dairy industry. The United States is

among the lower cost dairy producers in the world. We should continue to improve
our efficiencies and reduce costs to be even more competitive. Elimination of dump-
ing surplus, subsidized milk products on the world market should be a major objec-
tive for the United States. A commitment toward developing market-oriented com-
mercial exports is very important.
The U.S. dairy industry has traditionally regarded export markets as primarily

outlets for surplus dairy products at subsidized prices. Just recently, this view has
begun to change. For example, nonsubsidized exports of ice cream have increased

significantly in the past few years. It appears a number of value added U.S. dairy
products can compete in international markets even now. Policies to assist in this

transition could include such things as:
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1. Funding for DEIP to export the maximum quantities of dairy products that are
allowed under GATT.

2. Allowing DEIP sales to include value added products which are targeted to per-
manent market development opportunities.

3. Education and training in export sales and service.

4. Expanding the trade development efforts of dairy promotion groups.

• Expand and better coordinate dairy research to improve and expand
markets.

There is a tremendous amount of research currently conducted in various univer-
sities. It may be

possible
to better coordinate the work and improve its portability

to use in new product development and introductions.

• Develop expanded use of dairy futures contracts to help dairy farmers manage
fluctuations.

Price volatility in the dairy industry, although more than it was a few years ago,
is still small relative to other commodities. Nevertheless, tools such as the recent
futures contracts for nonfat dry milk and cheese can and, should play, a much larg-
er role in protecting dairy farmers, and business from some of the uncertainties of
market price fluctuations. Policies to assist dairy farmers in using the contracts to

fix their prices forward could help manage the fluctuations significantly. An edu-
cational program aimed at assisting dairy farmers in the use oi such contracts may
be in order.
The best form of self-help for the dairy industry is to focus new policies on future

decisions that allow the industry to help itself in the marketplace. Government pro-
grams can assist in providing support toward an orderly transition to more efficient

production, to enhanced and better utilized research; and to development and ex-

pansion of new markets both, domestically and internationally.
Mr. Chairman, we are pleased to have the opportunity to participate in this pro-

ceeding and stand ready to work with you, the committee and others in developing
dairy policies that will expand sales, as well as encourage a transition to more effi-

ciency and profitability.

Thank you.

Stewart Huber

On behalf of the 250,000 farm families of the National Farmers Union, we appre-
ciate your decision to hold a public hearing on the Self-Help Plan. I am Stewart
Huber, a Wisconsin dairy farmer, a member of the National Farmers Union, and
an ex-ofTicial member of the board for National Farmers Union. I also serve as

president of Farmers Union Milk Marketing Cooperative, Capper Volstead qualified
cooperative representing over 10,400 small and medium-sized dairy farmers in the

eight Midwest States.
We are encouraged that Congress is working on dairy legislation, and we support

adopting some type of supply management plan. We believe that legislation needs
to work toward the goal of promoting a fair price to producers, while providing a

high quality product to consumers, at a fair and reasonable price.
We are concerned that the Self-Help bill leaves producers out of the equation, by

providing inadequate assurance on the question of producer income. We are also
concerned that the pending General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade will render the

proposed elf-help program ineffective.

My statement will cover three areas:

• Position of the National Farmers Union regarding Self-Help
• Concerns with the current proposal
• Changes to improve the proposal.

I. Position of the National Farmers Union

On March 4-7, 1994, delegates to the annual convention of the National Farmers
Union gathered in Fargo, North Dakota, to debate national policy. Members debated
on whether to oppose Self-Help or support the proposal, contingent on significant

changes being adopted. Delegates decided to reject a blanket statement of opposition
or support. Instead, they adopted a position that National Farmers Union should
continue to work with Members of Congress and the dairy community to develop
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a proposal which will enhance producer income, allow producers to earn the cost of

production plus
a reasonable profit from the market place, and continue to provide

a stable ana high quality supply of miUc to consumers.

n. Concerns with the Current Proposal

1. Self-Help has been touted as a supplement to the Dairy Export Incentive Pro-

gram (DEIP). Yet, the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade requires the United
States to cut back on current export subsidy levels.

In analyzing the potential impact of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade
(GATT), we have asked the question as to whether the Self-Help Program would be
allowable under GATT, specifically with respect to the Blair House Agreement,
which requires that the quantity of subsidized exports be reduced by 21 percent,
with budgetary export subsidies to be reduced by 36 percent, using fiscal years
1986-90 as the base period. We believe Self-Help will be allowable, but subject to

the same reductions which will affect the Dairy Export Incentive F*rogram (DEIP).
Fact sheets produced by USDA showing exports oi butter, cheese, ana powder, are

attached as attachments A, B, and C. Attachment D shows the new levels which
would be allowable under GATT. Our export levels during the base period indicate
that we will need to significantly reduce our current levels of exported products in
order to comply with the agreement. Therefore, while the Self-Help Program may
be GATT legal, it would fall under the same constraints that would control oper-
ation of the DEIP. There is no need or benefit to having both programs, since the
allowable export level is less than the current amount exported under DEIP.

2. There must be some mechanism to assure that the producers can earn their cost

of production under the
Self-Help

Plan. Producers are unwilling to accept new as-

sessments or hidden milk check deductions unless clear income or price objectives are

guaranteed up front.

The proposal lacks specific price goals and is not designed to enhance farm in-

come, aespite proponents' claims. As the USDA analysis from last October shows,
Self-Help would increase the average all milk

price
over the 5-year study period by

less than $0.01 per hundredweight. In fact, tne USDA study observed that Tarm
cash receipts from milk marketings, after assessments, is projected to be $120 mil-
lion lower during the 5-year period.

Self-Help would also harm producers by shifting an estimated $151 million in

Dairy Export Incentive Program costs from the government to dairy producers and
by further depressing the international dairy export markets we are supposed to be

entering under GATT and NAFTA, according to USDA.
We would prefer to see ConCTess enact legislation which stabilizes supply and de-

mand, as opposed to the Self-Help Proposal which relies on setting up a mechanism
to dump excess milk production on the world market.

3. We are concerned about the number of assessments contained in the bill. We
would like to see a study by the Congressional Budget Office which would

spell
out

the assessment costs farmers, as well as the amount of income farmers could be ex-

pect to receive under the
plan.

It appears the assessments could be well in excess
of the $.20 per cwt generally associated with the bill.

4. The proposal penalizes regions which reduced production due to flooding and
other natural causes beyond their control.

According to the latest USDA monthly milk production report, Wisconsin and
Iowa were each down 8 percent, Illinois was down 7 percent, and Minnesota was
down 5 percent. In contrast, the latest figures show production for New Mexico was
up 21 percent and California was up 6 percent during this same period. Self-Help
would only exacerbate this unfortunate situation.

5. Self-Help is not targeted to small and medium-sized family farmers as it should
be.

Based on the lack of targeting and current production the average family dairy
farm would suffer. Let's assume Self-Help is enacted by Congress this year and the

Secretary of Agriculture determined that the 7 billion pound trigger was to go into

effect January 1, 1995. An average producer from my State of Wisconsin, with a 1

million-pound normal marketing history, whose 1994 marketings fell to 900,000

pounds due to flooding and feed conditions, would be subject to the $3 to $4/cwt pen-
alty assessment on the 100,000 pounds of market farm assuming production recov-

ered to normal levels in 1995. At the same time the family farmer was being penal-
ized, a 60-pound producer in the Sunbelt who increased output by an percent during
1994 would gain an additional 6 million pounds of base for 1995 and not be subject
to penalties.
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6. Self-Help encourages over production and a race for base at exactly the wrong
time. It sends a market signal to producers to expand production to avoid the sharp
assessment when it appears that CCC purchases will exceed the 7 billion pound
trigger in the succeeding year. That sends exactly the wrong signal to expand pro-
duction at the wrong time, when it's in the national interest to shrink the supply.

Instead, it rewards the mega-sized producers with huge annual base increases who
created the surplus in recent years at the expenses of the small- and medium-sized

producers who have maintained steady or reduced production histories.

7. Self-Help freezes uneconomic regional production patterns to the detriment of
the industry. It would lock in harmful regional trends fueled by artificial incentives

such as legislated Class I differential and other Federal milk order inequities, the

California make allowance, cheap feed grains and subsidized Federal irrigation
water. Self-Help would benefit large, factory-type dairy operations in the Sunbelt at

the expense of thousands of small- and medium-sized family dairy farmers regions
of the country.

The above are among the major criticisms and concerns raised by dairy farmers.

The message we're getting is strong—producers are strongly opposed to Self-Help
in its current form. Unless significant changes are made, Self-Help will do much
more harm than good for most of the dairy producers who will be forced to pay for

this program.
We therefore respectfully submit that any consideration of Self-Help be delayed

and that any positive features of the proposed programs be included in a com-

prehensive new dairy program in the 1995 Farm Bill to improve farm income and
stabilize dairy markets. Both the NFU and FUMMC policy statements address the

ingredients for such a comprehensive dairy program that should be considered in

total by the Congress for inclusion in the 1995 Farm Bill. However, if the committee
decides to take action at this time, the following changes are the absolute minimum
needed to make the plan acceptable.

in. Required Changes to Improve the Program

(1) We favor recent changes which do away with bloc voting.

(2) In place of new producer assessment or a Class IV export pricing mechanism,
Class I prices should be increased by a minimum of 5.50 per hundredweight
throughout the Nation to fund self-help program costs. AS required by section 102
of the 1990 Farm Bill, California and other areas not in the Federal order system
should be incorporated into the order system to ensure equity and uniformity
across the Nation.

(3) We should consider the consolidation of any new board with the National

Dairy Promotion and Research Board, to maximize the sale of value-added dairy
products rather than subsidized bulk sales in domestic and international markets.

Partnering must be authorized to allow this consolidated board to work with U.S.

companies to design dairy products that meet specific ethnic and regional needs and
desires of the expanding global market. The Dairy and Tobacco Adjustment Act of

1983 would have to be amended to strike the generic advertising requirement and
to specifically authorize partnering and brand advertising.

(4) Milk and diary products used under the Women, Infants and Children (WIC)
and other Federal feeding programs would be exempt from the Class I price increase
to avoid raising the cost of those programs.

(5) All dairy imports would be subject to all assessments levied on domestic milk

marketings including any Self-Help fees.

(6) Producers whose annual milk marketing histories are reduced by flooding and
other natural disasters would be exempt from any penalties on increased market-

ings in the succeeding year.

(7) No new co-op marketwide service payments would be permitted.

(8) Permanent farm law would be amended to allow the defeat of proposed order

changes in Federal milk marketing order referenda without eliminating the order
in question. In such cases, the order would revert to provisions in place prior to the

changes being voted upon.

(9) Class III—a pricing must be immediately suspended until a national hearing
can be called pursuant to reconsideration of implementation of Class Ill-a pricing.
This flagrant abuse of the system rewards economic inefficiency in the market place
at the expense of dairy farmers.
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CONCLUSION

National Farmers Union believes that dumping dairy products on the world mar-
ket is not the solution to solving producer income concerns for U.S. farmers. We are

very pleased that Members of Congress are making time to deal with the question
of producer income, but we hope the committee will continue to look at other propos-
als to meet this important goal.
We offer our support to work with Members of Congress and other members of

the dairy industry to develop a proposal which meets the needs of producers, proc-
essors, and consumers. We are hopeful we can use the ideas ofTered at the National

Dairy Summit, as well as those suomitted to USDA.
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POSITION STATEMENT OF THE AMERICAN
FARM BUREAU FEDERATION

The American Farm Bureau Federation (AFBF) is the Nation's largest general
farm organization with over 4.2 million members. Our membership includes a large
portion of the Nation's dairy producers. We do appreciate your interest in exploring
new options for dairy policy as evidenced by your recent hearing on the "Effect on
Dairy Trade of the Self-Help Proposal." While we did not have the opportunity to

testify at that hearing, we would like to convey a number of observations and sug-
gestions to the committee.
Farm Bureau has always been supportive of producers working together and tak-

ing responsibility for their own affairs, or true "self-help". We encourage agriculture
to move in this direction. Given the current budget climate in Washington, new
market opportunities made available through the North American Free Trade
Agreement (NAFTA), and opportunities likely to occur as a result of completion of
the Uruguay Round of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), this

direction is seen as even more irnportant for the future of all dairy producers.
Farm Bureau members, the AFBF dairy advisory committee and the AFBF Board

of Directors have had extensive discussions on the Self-Help concept in various pro-
posed forms. To date Farm Bureau has endorsed no single proposal, but has rather
identified a number of concepts that should be central to any proposal that moves
forward. Through its National Dairy Policy, Farm Bureau supports" . . . the con-

cept of a dairy self-help proposal which provides a sensible and fair alternative to
the budget reconciliation levies against milk producers. The proposals should con-
tain the following provisions:

(1) Create a Producer Dairy Stabilization Board to enhance exports and balance
domestic supply with demand;

(2) Limit dairy assessments to the cost of removing surplus supplies from the
market;

(3) Exempt dairy producers from budget reconciliation assessments;

(4) Expand exports of dairy cattle;

(5) Donate products to domestic and international food and aid programs, as
needed for emergency or disaster assistance; and

Export programs should be consistent with the General Agreement on Tariffs and
Trade disciplines."

Farm Bureau policy defines the basic points that our producer-members believe
vital to such a program, but we would like to offer further clarification on several
of these points and also to re-emphasize several points.
We recognize that if a self-help program is established through legislation, some

degree of congressional oversight will be required. To be most effective, it is impor-
tant that the program be established and run in as independent a manner as pos-
sible. This can best be accomplished if program direction is provided by a board
composed of active milk producers. We recognize the value of using technical experts
to advise the Board, but would suggest that they might be most appropriately used
as an advisory committee to the Board rather than as full Members of the Board
as some proposals would suggest.
Most current proposals include provisions for the election of board members, or

at least the election of board nominees, by producers. Some proposals include the
use of bloc voting in this process. Farm Bureau supports the use of bloc voting in

marketing order referenda, but questions its use in a situation such as this. Produ-
cers are selecting individuals to represent them in these elections. For this reason,
they should cast their own ballots for the individual of their choice, as they would
in any other election.

A variety of methods have been suggested to pay costs associated with the conduct
of a self-help program. We must re-emphasize that if any assessments are used,
they must be limited to the cost of conducting the program and no other types of
assessments should be allowed. It is also important that any assessment, or other
means chosen to pay for the program, be shown on producers' checks. As an
industry-driven program, producers need to be aware of what they are paying for

the program so tney can best judge its merits.
While discussing assessments, we also wish to express our support for the elimi-

nation of the current budget reconciliation assessments on producers. Costs associ-

ated with the conduct of the dairy program have plunged dramatically since the

budget reconciliation assessments were first discussed, but the industry currently
has no prospect for relief. In fact, in spite of reduced program costs the 1993 budget
reconciliation agreement extended assessments further into the future. If a self-help
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program is implemented, it will further limit government cost exposure for dairy.
For this reason, we support elimination of the budget reconciliation assessment

through the use of a self-help program.
As mentioned previously, NAFTA and GATT will open new market opportunities

for dairy products. While the opportunities will be tnere, it is important that the

tools be provided to take advantage of them. Activities undertaken through the

Dairy Export Incentive Program (DEEP) have enhanced dairy producer prices. A
self-help program that is compatible with the trade agreements and expands the

DEIP program by emphasizing value-added products can provide these necessary
tools. A need to export bulk commodities will continue, but we strongly support an

emphasis on the export of value-added products in a self-help program. Expanding
foreign markets for these products not only increases market demand for milk, just
as the export of bulk commodities does, but also provides a greater return to produc-
ers.

AFBF believes that dairy producers need to critically evaluate all potential

changes in dairy policy. During the coming months we will continue to urge our pro-
ducers to ask hard questions and carefully evaluate all proposals. We feel that an

appropriately structured self-help program can benefit producers, the industry and
consumers. We look forward to working with you, and the rest of the dairy industry,
in development of such a program.
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lanitd States Senate

September 29, 1993

Senator Patrick Leahy
Chairman
Committee on Agriculture, Nutrition, and Forestry
328A Senate Russell
Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Chairman Leahy:

As you are well aware, the dairy industry and the federal

government have come to crossroads in determining the future path
for the federal dairy progrcim. It is very critical at this

juncture that we choose the path that makes the most sense for
all those involved.

It is clear from our experiences that severe federal budget
constraints now drive dairy policy. These budget constraints
have resulted in a dairy policy that is entirely focused on the
funding availcible in the baseline as opposed to developing a
creative solution that will help to rectify the problems facing
cur dairy farmers. A policy driven by deficit consideration will
not keep farmers in business. We need to move away from present
federal dairy policy which relies on price cuts coupled with
forced banJcruptcies of farmers to reduce milk supplies. We have
seen this scenario again and again. The dairy farmer and the
consumer are both losers in this vicious cycle.

Since the federal government has been involved in the dairy
program, it has not been able to effectively manage it in a way
that could offer stability to the industry. The time has come
for the dairy industry to take more control over the operation of
the federal dairy program. We must look at new ways to develop
and promote dairy products on the international market.
Tremendous opportunities exist for us and our dairy products
worldwide. If the dairy industry can effectively develop these
markets , it will not only ensure higher prices for dairy farmers
in the future, but also require less reliance on the federal
government to support the dairy program and reduce federal

expenditures .

The Dairy Self Help proposal as one option, takes us in that
direction. A Dairy Stabilization Board would be created,
consisting of milk producers and other industry representatives,
with the responsibility and authority to intervene in dairy

'ICASC BtPtT TO
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product markets in a timely manner through aggressive export
marketing. This program is designed to stabLlLze milk prices,
enhance producer income, and allow dairy fcu^iers more control
over their own program while reducing government expenditures .

We understand that this is a big step and one that needs to be
carefully thought through before it is fully implemented. We
are aware that the Self Help proposal needs fine tuning, but it
is a good place to start.

We therefore want to express our support for the concept of self
help that gives the dairy industry greater responsibility in
running its own program.

Sincerely,

L&ity Crbig
United States Senator'

Slade Gorton
United States Senator

Mitc^ McConnell
United States Senator

Charles Grassley ^""^^
United States Senator

AlfbAse D'Amato
United States Senator

Dave DurenJkerger
United States Senator
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October 18, 1993

Senator Patrick Leahy
Chairman
Conunittee on Agriculture, Nutrition, and Forestry
328A Senate Russell
Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Chairman Leahy:

As you know, federal dairy policy is at a critical juncture.
Budget pressures are increasing, and farm prices are weak. GATT
pressures make it imperative that dairy farmers help to develop a

new program and policy. On the positive side, dairy farmers'
increased productivity has resulted in a reduction in the real
cost of milk to consumers.

In the changing world, with little prospect for an increase in
the support price, we believe that the dairy industry needs to
assume greater responsibility for its future. The industry must
look to new ways to develop and promote dairy products on the
international market. Doing so could decrease demand on federal
expenditures and increase farm prices. The so-called Dairy Self

Help proposal takes us in that direction.

We support this proposal and urge you to refine it and bring it
to the floor for consideration by the full Senate. We pledge our

support when you do so.

Sincerel
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Florida Dairy Farmers Association,
Fort Lauderdale, FL, March 14, 1994.

The Honorable BOB Graham,
United States Senate, Washington. DC. 20510.

Dear Senator Graiiam: It is our understanding that the Senate Agriculture Sub-
committee will be holding a hearing regarding the Self-Help Program proposed and

supported by the National Milk Producers Federation (NMPF). Earlier this year,
NMPF presented petitions signed by a substantial number of producers and cooper-
ative executives, asking Congress, and the Department of Agriculture to support the

Self-Help Plan purporting that almost all dairy farmers within the United States

whole-heartedly supported this concept. We in Florida do not concur with this as-

sessment.
There are several provisions contained within the Self-Help legislation that would

be very disastrous to the Florida Dairy Industry. Two proposals set forth in the Self-

Help Plan could be devastating to the producers within the Sate of Florida and
other Southeastern States.

The first is the concept that if total surplus exceeds 7 billion pounds any producer

producing more than he did in the comparable month of the previous year would
be assessed $6.00 or $7.00 on that portion of his milk, could have a devastating ef-

fect on deficit markets. Also, it could have a devastating effect in markets such as

Florida where yearly production is greatly affected by weather conditions. An exam-

ple would be, an extremely hot summer and fall— 1 year—depressing production in

Florida, then the program would he implemented in October, or November
because of National Production trends. Then, the next year, in Florida, we would
have good production weather, and most producers would either have to cut their

production to levels equal to the previous year, or face massive assessments.

The second provision would allow money to be transferred between Federal Order
Markets to reimburse handlers for obtaining supplemental milk supplies. When
questioned about this, NMPF answered that authority is already provided for under

present law. If this answer is accurate, there is no reason, whatsoever, to incor-

porate this language in the Self-Help Proposal.
Florida Dairy Farmers' Association has been in contact with Tampa Independent

Dairy Farmers' Association and they concur, totally, with our views on the present

Self-Help legislation. The two cooperatives represent virtually all producers located

within tne State of Florida and a substantial number of producers located within

the State of Georgia.
Our position with respect to the proposed dairy legislation is to not support the

concept of the creation of a dairy board and the adoption of Self-Help legislation at

this time.

The 1990 Farm Bill provisions that relate to dairy have been very successful. The
fluctuation in price has had the effect of balancing the markets by eliminating mar-

ginal production units.

We feel that it is inappropriate at this time to attempt a quick fix solution to a

program that is not brolten. It is our opinion that any legislation be delayed until

the 1995 Farm Bill can be fully debated and new 5-year plan for dairy be

adopted. We also feel that there is a great deal of sentiment amongst other dairy
farmers, within the United States, for our position, even though NMPF would lead

you to believe the opposite.

Any help that you can give us in this matter will be greatly appreciated.

Sincerely,
(SIGNED) Jack I. Kidwell,

Manager.
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